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6. INVESTMENT INCENTIVES IN POLAND

The current investment incentives system in Poland is compliant with EC law 
requirements and is composed of three main types of public aid: regional aid, 
horizontal aid and sectoral aid. The amount of public aid that may be awarded 
to an investment cannot exceed certain levels. However, these limits are cal cu-
lated separately for each category. 

1.6 Regional aid
General rules
Regional aid is aimed mainly at supporting new investment (which is defined 
as investment in fixed capital relating to the setting up of a new establishment, 
or the starting up of an activity involving a fundamental change in the product 
or production process of an existing establishment). 

This kind of aid is conditional on the maintenance of the investment or job re-
tention for a minimum of 5 years (in order to prevent relocation of companies 
after aid is granted). 

Aid intensity
Regional aid for new investments can generally be awarded up to the maximum 
aid intensity, understood as a percentage of the costs eligible for funding, i.e. 
pro-ject or job creation costs: 

• Warsaw, Poznañ 30%; 
• Gdañsk-Sopot-Gdynia (Tri-city), Wroc³aw, Kraków  40%; 
• Other regions of Poland 50%. 

Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) enjoy maximum aid intensity lim-
its increased by 15 percentage points (i.e. 45% for Warsaw and Poznañ, 55% 
for the Tri-city area, Wroc³aw and Kraków and 65% for the rest of Poland). An 
enter-prise is deemed to be an SME if, in at least one of the two preceding 
balance-sheet years, it:

• employed less than 250 employees, and
• had average net revenue not exceeding EUR 50 million, and/or
• had total assets of less than EUR 43 million. 

For large investment projects (qualifying costs of above EUR 50 million) the 
aid level is reduced. The allowable aid amount for a large investment project 
is calculated according to the formula: 

maximum aid amount = R x (50 + 0.50 x B + 0.34 x C) 
where: 
R is the maximum aid intensity allocated to a given area;
B is the qualifying expenditure between EUR 50 million and EUR 100 million; 
C is the qualifying expenditure above EUR 100 million.

Aid for projects of strategic importance to the national economy
A new law on aid for projects of strategic importance to the national economy 
(i.e. projects exceeding expenditure of EUR 40 million or 500 employees) is ex-
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pected to be enacted within the next few months. This new act should fa cili tate 
aid being granted for large investment projects. However, as the draft law is still 
passing through the Polish Parliament, it is too early to provide investors with details. 

6.2 Methods of calculating available aid

The amount of aid available for an investment project is generally based either 
on the costs of the investment or the costs of creating jobs:

• investment costs (e.g.):
– purchase costs of: 

 land – up to 10% of the total value of the investment,
 new fixed assets, such as buildings, machinery and office appliances,
 utilities,
 used fixed assets,
 patents or know-how – up to 25% of fixed asset purchase costs,

– costs of installing or putting fixed assets into operation,
– costs indirectly related to the investment project, such as bank charges, 

if payment of the aid requires a separate bank account to be opened;
• job creation costs.

Qualifying costs cannot exceed a percentage, equal to the aid intensity level 
for a given region, of the 2-year labour costs of newly employed workers, com-
prising the gross costs of employing the workers increased by all obligatory 
payments related to their employment (e.g. social security contributions) in curred 
by the firm. The aid for employment refers to a net increase in average annual 
employment level. 

Aid notification 

The European Commission should be notified of any public aid to be in di vidually 
granted in excess of EUR 100,000. This notification should be made through 
the President of the Office for Competition and Consumer Protection (Urz¹d 
Ochrony Konkurencji i Konsumentów - UOKiK). The notification process may 
take approx. 5 months. 

6.3 Forms of regional aid

New investments in Poland can mainly be supported in two ways. The first is 
through a financial grant administered by the Minister of Economic Affairs & La-
bour (Minister Gospodarki i Pracy) and the second is Corporation Income Tax 
(CIT) exemption available for enterprises starting up in Special Economic Zones
(SEZ). An enterprise established in a SEZ may benefit from both CIT relief and 
financial grants, however the total value of grants and other types of regional state 
aid offered to the investor cannot exceed the maximum regional state aid in ten-
sity admissible for a given investment project. 

Furthermore, there are opportunities to benefit from real estate tax exemption. 
This incentive is subject to negotiation with the local authorities and is available 
for investors both in SEZs and outside them.
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Financial grants 

Financial grants are given to an enterprise under an agreement concluded be tween 
the enterprise and the Minister of Economic Affairs & Labour. The agreement 
stipulates the value of the investment project, the timetable for the in vestment 
process, the technologies to be applied and the number of new em ploy ees.

Applications for grants shall be submitted to the Minister of Economic Affairs & La-
bour throughout January and June of each calendar year. An investment to be co-
fi nanced from these funds may only start after the application has been sub mitted.

Financial grants are available on the following conditions:
• the value of the new investment is at least EUR 10 million, or
• the value of the new investment is at least EUR 0.5 million, it involves the 

de-velopment and modernisation of an existing business and safeguards 
at least 100 jobs for at least 5 years, or

• as a result of the new investment at least 20 new jobs will be created for 
at least 5 years, or

• the investment involves technological innovations, or
• the investment benefits environmental protection, or
• the investment is located within an Industrial or Technology Park.

Support granted to an entrepreneur can be earmarked for: 
• subsidizing expenditure qualifying under financial aid for investment projects 

(investment grant) – up to 50% of the maximum admissible regional state 
aid intensity, 

• creating new jobs (a grant for new jobs) – of an amount not exceeding the 
equi-valent of EUR 4,000 per job, while the amount of aid cannot exceed 
that part of the 2-year costs of employing new staff which corresponds to 
the maxi mum admissible regional state aid intensity.

In the case of an investment grant, business activity related to a particular 
in vestment should be conducted for a period of at least 5 years from the in-
vestment completion date. 

In the case of support for creating new jobs, the newly created jobs should be 
maintained for at least 5 years from the date investment completion, but may 
be created within 3 years of completion.

CIT exemption (only in Special Economic Zones)

A Special Economic Zone is a part of Polish territory set up for a specific period 
of time (in most cases until late 2017) where company operations are governed 
by specific rules set out in the Act on Special Economic Zones and further 
defined in the rel evant SEZ Regulations.

At present there are 14 Special Economic Zones in Poland, each split on av er-
age into 5 subzones. Zone management is able and obliged to present a po-
ten tial investor with possible locations for industrial facilities and also provides 
free assistance to investors by, among other things, facilitating their contacts 
with local authorities or state administrative authorities in matters such as the 
pur chase of land for in vestment but at the same time collects payments for 
administering the SEZ. 

Investment incentives in Poland
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SEZ are to operate until 2017. The minimum value of an investment project in 
a SEZ is EUR 100,000.

Special Economic Zones in Poland

CIT exemption is available for enterprises operating in a SEZ with a SEZ permit 
– this is the most significant incentive offered in a SEZ. The SEZ permit speci-
fies the scope of the enterprise’s activity and the conditions that enable the 
en ter prise to enjoy tax relief, i.e. minimum number of jobs created and minimum 
project value. The permit is usually valid until the SEZ ceases to exist.

 SEZ Area (hectares) Website 

 1 Kamienna Góra SEZ for Small Business 241.2 www.ssemp.pl 

 2 Katowice SEZ 1,118.8 www.ksse.com.pl 

 3 Kostrzyn-S³ubice SEZ  487.4  www.kssse.pl  

 4 SEZ – Kraków Technology Park 122.0 www.sse.krakow.pl 

 5 Legnica SEZ 416.7 www.strefa-legnica.com

 6 £ódŸ SEZ 337.6 www.sse.lodz.pl 

 7 Euro-Park Mielec SEZ 740.0 www.europark.com.pl

 8 Pomeranian SEZ 387.8 www.strefa.gda.pl 

 9 S³upsk SEZ 167.9 www.parr.slupsk.pl

10 Starachowice SEZ 351.4 www.sse.com.pl 

11 Suwa³ki SEZ 288.1 www.ssse.com.pl 

12 Tarnobrzeg SEZ Euro-Park Wis³osan 810.8 www.arp.pl 

13 Wa³brzych SEZ “Invest-Park” 579.1 www.invest-park.com.pl

14 Warmiñsko-Mazurska SEZ 307.4 www.wmsse.com.pl
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CIT exemption is granted automatically together with the permit to operate within 
the SEZ when starting business operations; the company then notifies the tax 
office of its exemption right (there is no need to wait for tax office approval).

Depending on the aid calculation method, business activity related to a par ticu-
lar investment should be conducted for a period of at least 5 years from the 
in vestment completion date or the newly created jobs should be maintained for 
a period of at least 5 years from the investment completion date.

The procedure to obtain a permit to operate in a SEZ is based on a public 
tender. This procedure involves the following steps:

• the company contacts the SEZ Managing Authorities to obtain information on 
the terms and conditions for investing in a SEZ and possible locations;

• the company visits the SEZ – identifies possible locations, files a formal 
letter of intent together with an Initial Application and a Questionnaire;

• the SEZ Managing Authorities analyse and evaluate the company’s Initial 
Application, the land plot for the investment is specified;

• Final Application with an investment business plan is submitted by the 
com-pany;

• the company’s Final Application with business plan is analysed and evalu-
ated by the SEZ Managing Authorities;

• a tender is announced concerning the SEZ permit;
• Terms of Reference are purchased;
• tender procedure;
• SEZ Managing Authorities issue their final decision;
• SEZ permit is issued;
• legal proceedings connected with the company purchasing the land;
• the company starts to operate in the SEZ.

Procedure to acquire a permit to operate in a SEZ

A simplified diagram of the SEZ permit application procedure and time scale 
is given below:

Investment incentives in Poland

WEEKS (approximate timing)

  1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

It takes approx. 3 months to complete all the documents needed to obtain a SEZ 
permit and to start business activity subject to CIT exemption.
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Real Estate Tax exemption

Either full or partial exemption is granted under a local authority decision. Com-
pa nies operating in SEZ are usually granted 100% exemption after an appli cation 
has been filed with the local authority and a positive response received.

This incentive requires the investor to submit an application to the local au thority. 
Of course, if all the requirements set out in the District authorities’ reso lution are 
fulfilled, the exemption is granted but it is still necessary to obtain a positive 
reply from the District autotities. The District authorities must notify UOKiK of the 
reso lution on Real Estate Tax exemption and obtain UOKiK approval.

Real Estate Tax Rates in 2005 are as follows: for buildings or parts of buildings 
connected with business activity – PLN 17.98 per square metre; for land connected 
with business activity – PLN 0.66. These rates are maximum annual rates.

Please find below an example local authority resolution:

RESOLUTION
OF THE OLSZTYN TOWN COUNCIL

on Real Estate Tax exemption for businesses carrying out new investment or 
creating new jobs connected with new investments in the Olsztyn Town area.  

Pursuant to Article 18.2.8 of the Act on Local Government of March 8, 1990 (Jour-
 nal of Laws of 2001, No. 142, item 1591; of 2002, No. 23, item 220, No. 62, item 
558, No. 113, item 984, No. 153, item 1271, No. 214, item 1806; of 2003, No. 80, 
item 717, No. 162, item 1568; of 2004, No. 102, item 1055, No. 116, item 1203) 
and Article 7.3 of the Act on Local Taxes and Charges of January 12, 1991 (Jour -
nal of Laws of 2002, No. 9, item 84, No. 200, item 1683; of 2003, No. 96, item 874, 
No. 110, item 1039, No. 188, item 1840, No. 200, item 1953, No. 203, item 1966; 
of 2004, No. 92, item 880 and 884, No. 96, item 959, No. 123, item 1291), 

the Olsztyn Town Council resolves as follows:

§ 1.

The terms used in the resolution have the following meanings:
1. Newly erected buildings and constructions – buildings and constructions 

the erecting of which started after the resolution came into force;
2. New investments – investments in setting up, developing or acquiring an enter-

prise, also the starting up in an existing enterprise of activity in volving a sig-
nificant change in product or production process. Acquiring an en ter prise 
means purchasing an enterprise that has been liquidated or that would have 
been liquidated if it had not been purchased, with the ex ception of an esta-
blishment belonging to an enterprise that finds itself in a difficult fi nan cial 
situation;

3. Creation of new jobs in connection with a new investment – this should be 
understood as a net increase in the number of jobs in a given enterprise 
as a result of a new investment over a specified period of not longer than 
3 years from the investment completion date;

4. Business activity – activity specified in the Economic Freedom Act of July 
2, 2004 (Journal of Laws No. 173, item 1807);

5. Day on which aid is granted – day referred to in the Public Aid Procedures 
Act of April 30, 2004 (Journal of Laws No. 123, item 1291);

6. Small or medium businesses – businesses referred to in European Com-
mission regulation No. 364/2004 of February 25, 2004 amending and 
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extending European Commission regulation No. 70/2001 of January 12, 
2001 on applying articles 87 and 88 of the Treaty on the European Com-
mu nity in respect of state aid for small and medium businesses (Official 
Journal of the EU L 10 of January 13, 2001) in order to include aid for 
research and development (Official Journal L 63 of February 28, 2004).

§ 2.
1. Land, buildings, constructions and parts of the same constituting new in vest-

ments involving the carrying out of production or service business activity for 
the first time in the Olsztyn Town area by small businesses are exempt from 
Real Estate Tax. 

2. The exemption referred to in point 1 applies for a period of one year from 
the first day of the month following that in which the production or service 
business activity starts.  

3. If the Real Estate Tax obligation in respect of newly erected buildings, con-
structions and parts of the same arose as of January 1, of the year following 
that in which the building, construction or a part of the same was put into 
use, the exemption referred to in point 1 applies for a period of one year 
from January 1, of the year following that in which the production or service 
business activity starts. 

§ 3.

1. Land, buildings, constructions and parts of the same constituting new in-
vestments connected with production or service business activity are exempt 
from Real Estate Tax providing 5 new jobs are created. 

2. The exemption referred to in point 1 applies from the first day of the month 
following that in which the new jobs are created in connection with a new 
investment, and in the case of newly erected buildings, con structions and parts 
of the same, from January 1, of the year following that in which the building, 
con struction or a part of the same was put into use in connection with the 
start-up of production or service business activity and the cre ation of new 
jobs connected with a new investment, for a period of:
a) 1 year – if at least 5 new jobs are created in connection with new in vest-

ments, 
b) 2 years – if at least 15 new jobs are created in connection with new in-

vestments, 
c) 3 years – if at least 25 new jobs are created in connection with new in-

vestments, 
d) 4 years – if at least 50 new jobs are created in connection with new in-

vestments, 
e) 5 years – if at least 100 new jobs are created in connection with new 

in vestments.
3. The condition to create new jobs (net increase in jobs) is deemed to be met 

if the new investment results in an increase in the number of persons em ployed 
for one year on a full-time basis in a given enterprise (persons em-ployed part-
time or for a period of less than one year are counted as fractions in relation
to persons employed full-time for one year) reduced by the number of per -
sons laid off in this time as a result of work positions being liquidated, in com-
parison to the average number of persons em ployed in the 12 months pre ced-
ing the date on which the new investment was put into use.  

4. The tax exemption applies if the newly created jobs are maintained for at 
least 5 years from the date on which the aid is granted. 

Investment incentives in Poland



4646

§ 4.

Entrepreneurs which expand their operations can also benefit from the ex emp-
tion referred to in § 3. This tax exemption only applies to new investments in-
volving production or service business activity. 

§ 5.

If an enterprise acquires the right to exemption, it must submit documents 
confirming that the conditions set out in § 2 and § 3 have been met, together 
with a tax return and tax information. 

§ 6.

1. A taxpayer benefiting from exemption is obliged, by January 15, of each tax 
year, to submit information on:  
1) amount of investment costs incurred,
2) amount and purpose of public aid received by the enterprise in the 3 months 

prior to submitting the aid application,  
3) amount and purpose of public aid received by the enterprise to carry out 

new investments and create new jobs connected with the new in vestment.
2. In addition to the documents specified in point 1, a taxpayer benefiting from 

the exemption referred to in § 3 and § 4 must, by January 15, of each tax year, 
submit information on: 
1) level of employment described in the way referred to in § 3 point 3,
2) costs of employing workers, with details of: gross salary, i.e. before tax 

and social security contributions. 
3. If the exemption entitlement conditions cease to be met, the enterprise is obli-

ged to notify the tax authorities in writing within 14 days of cir cum stances re-
sulting in the loss of the exemption right occurring. 

4. An enterprise referred to in point 2 loses its exemption right from the first day 
of the month in which circumstances arose leading to the loss of this right.  

5. An enterprise which does not meet the obligation set out in point 2 loses its 
exemption right from the beginning of the tax year in which cir cum stances 
arose leading to the loss of this right.

6. An enterprise which misleads the tax authorities as to fulfilment of con ditions 
giving exemption entitlement loses its exemption right for the whole of the pe-
riod during which it benefited from exemption.  

7. An enterprise which loses the right to Real Estate Tax exemption for reasons 
mentioned in points 4 and 5 cannot re-apply for exemption for a period of 
5 years. 

8. In the event of the right to the exemption referred to in points 4 and 5 being
lost, the enterprise is obliged to pay tax due together with the default interest
applicable to tax arrears.  

§ 7.

The right to Real Estate Tax exemption does not apply to:  
1. Land, buildings, constructions exempt from Real Estate Tax under the pro -

visions of the Act of 2 October 2003 amending the Act on Special Eco nomic 
Zones and other Acts (Journal of Laws No. 188, item 1840) and

2. Land, buildings and constructions which are connected with the activity of 
petrol stations, and also buildings used for trading of a sales area of more 
than 300 sq. m. 
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§ 8.

The program of regional aid for businesses in the Town of Olsztyn taking into 
consideration the conditions for granting public aid set out in this resolution and 
provisions of the Public Aid Procedure Act is described in a separate resolution. 

§ 9.

The President of the Town of Olsztyn is entrusted with carrying out this reso lution.

§ 10.

1. The resolution shall be published in the Official Journal of the Warmiñsko-
-Mazurskie Voivodship.

2. This resolution comes into force 14 days after being published.  

Council Chairman

Zbigniew D¹bkowski

6.4 Sectoral aid

There are separate regulations for so-called “sensitive sectors” (automotive, 
synthetic fibres, steel, shipbuilding, transport).

The maximum aid intensity in the automotive sector for investment projects that 
meet the following criteria:

• costs eligible for aid exceed the equivalent of EUR 50 million or
• the total value of the aid for the investment exceeds the equivalent of EUR 

5 million 
is equal to 30% of the corresponding regional aid intensity.

6.5 Horizontal aid
Horizontal aid schemes are separate from regional aid. This means that even 
companies that have used up the maximum aid intensity allowed may benefit 
from horizontal aid schemes. 

Employment
Employment aid is granted for the creation of jobs, recruitment of dis ad van taged 
or disabled people or to cover the additional costs of employing dis abled peo-
ple. Job creation is understood as a net increase in the number of jobs, com-
pared to the annual average employment level, maintained for at least 3 years 
(or 2 years in the case of SME). New employees must have either never had a job 
or lost their previous job. This type of support is available on the basis of the Act 
on Em ployment Promotion and Labour Market Insitutions (Journal of Laws 2004, 
No 99, item 1001).

Types of project
Projects concerning recruitment of those previously unemployed for intervention jobs:

• youths under the age of 25;
• long-term unemployed;
• persons over the age of 50;
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• single adults looking after a child or children;
• disabled people.

Maximum rates of support:
• up to PLN 504.2 per month per each person employed in the framework of 

intervention jobs for a period of 6 months and then 
• up to PLN 3,636.42 (150% of the average salary in the III quarter of 2004) 

per each person employed after intervention jobs for the next 6 months (on 
the basis of Article 51 of the Act on Employment Promotion and Labour 
Market Institutions, Journal of Laws 2004, No 99, item 1001).

Terms and conditions:
• budget (Poland 2004 – 2006) – EUR 614 million;
• cooperation plan and applications to be submitted to the Local Labour 

Office (Powiatowy Urz¹d Pracy) or the State Fund for the Rehabilitation of 
the Disabled (Pañstwowy Fundusz Rehabilitacji Osób Niepe³nosprawnych).

Deadlines:
• in the case of Local Labour Offices – continuous procedure;
• in the case of the State Fund for the Rehabilitation of the Disabled, the dead-

line is between November 24, 2004 and January 14, 2005.

Procedure – Local Labour Office
The company completes an application and submits it to the Local Labour Office. 
The Local Labour Office then sets up an Evaluation Commission that selects 
projects on a competitive basis. The assessment procedure takes around 2 
weeks. The Company is informed of whether the project will be funded or not. 
Funding starts from the moment at which selected persons are employed.

Procedure – State Fund for the Rehabilitation of the Disabled
In the case of aid for the creation of jobs for disabled people, applications are 
submitted to the State Fund for the Rehabilitation of the Disabled. Once projects 
are formally approved, they are passed to the Project Evaluation Commission, which 
prepares a ranking for the Management Board of the State Fund for the Rehabi-
litation of the Disabled. Formal evaluation takes 14 days and content evaluation 
also takes 14 days, after which the Company is informed of whether funding for 
the project has been approved.

Beneficiaries:
• disabled people (those with serious physical, mental or psychological handi-

caps);
• disadvantaged people (young persons, long-term unemployed, any person 

older than 50, persons with a low level of education or single adults looking 
after a child or children).

It should be underlined that horizontal aid for employment is not linked to initial 
in vestment job creation and, as such, is not subject to regional aid admissibility 
ceilings.

Research & Development

Research & Development support within Structural Funds
Aid for Research & Development can be granted either for fundamental re search 
(designed to broaden knowledge not linked to industrial or commercial ob jec-
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tives) or industrial research (aimed at acquiring new knowledge which may be 
useful in developing new products, processes or services or in bringing about 
a sig nifi cant improvement in existing ones) and pre-competitive re search (un-
der stood as the transfer of the results of industrial research to a plan, arrange-
ment or design for new, altered or improved products, including the building of 
prototypes not for commer cial use). 

Types of project:
• industrial research - development of new, or major improvements in, ex ist-

ing products, processes or services;
• pre-competitive research - design of new, modified or improved products, 

performance of a prototype of no commercial use.

Beneficiaries:
• companies that carry out Research & Development.

Maximum rates of support:
• 50% of eligible costs in the case of industrial research;
• 25% of eligible costs in the case of pre-competitive research.

Terms and conditions:
• budget (Poland 2004 – 2006) – EUR 138 million;
• cooperation with Research & Development Institution is obligatory;
• applications are submitted to the Ministry of Scientific Research and In for-

mation Society Technologies (Ministerstwo Nauki i Informatyzacji).

Deadlines:
• applications are submitted from November 2, 2004 to June 30, 2006 con-

tinuously.

Procedure
The procedure consists of formal, technical and economic, and content evalua-
tion. A project ranking is drawn up by a Working Group and submitted to the Stee-
ring Committee, which recommends the best projects to the Minister of Eco nomic 
Affairs & Labour. The final decision on project selection is taken by the Minister 
of the Economic Affaires & Labour. Duration of the procedure has not yet been 
set.

Research & Development support from national funds – purpose research 
projects conducted by companies
In the case of research and development projects supported by national funds, 
only the research part is eligible for funding.

Types of project:
• projects aimed at implementing a given technology or product and other appli-

cations of results in practice.

Beneficiaries:
• companies having an R&D unit or which cooperate with an R&D entity which 

conducts research.

Maximum rates of support:
• industrial research – up to 50% of research outlays;
• pre-competitive research – up to 25% of research outlays.
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The above mentioned maximum levels of support may be increased, e.g.:
• by an extra 10 percentage points where the aid is to be given to small and 

medium size enterprises;
• by an extra 10 percentage points if the project involves cross-border co-

op eration between at least two independent partners from two Member 
States;

• by an extra 15 percentage points if the project is undertaken as part of 
the 6th Framework Programme.

However, under no circumstances can the maximum level of support exceed 75% 
of research outlays in the case of industrial research and 50% of research outlays 
in the case of pre-competitive research.

Terms and conditions:
• budget (Poland 2004 – 2006) – PLN 200 million;
• cooperation with Research & Development Institution is advisable;
• applications are submitted to the State Committee for Scientific Re search at 

the Ministry of Scientific Research and Information Society Tech nologies.

Deadlines:
• applications can be submitted continuously.

Procedure
An application for co-financing for a goal-oriented project shall be submitted to 
the Ministry of Scientific Research and Information Society Technologies at any 
time during the year. A company embarking on a goal-oriented project must file 
the application on its own if it has an organisational unit that performs applied 
research and development work. A competent Ministry of Scientific Research and 
Information Society Technologies team evaluates and ranks applications for co-
financing of a goal-oriented project, based on the opinion of specialist sections 
and reviewers. For a project qualifying for co-financing the Ministry of Scientific 
Research and Information Society Technologies specifies the amount of the grant 
and other project performance conditions.

Research & Development support within European Community Pro gramme 
– 6th Framework Programme
The EU strongly supports R&D especially if it is conducted in cooperation with 
R&D centres and other companies. The 6th Framework Programme’s (designed 
for years 2002 – 2006) main goal is to combine the activities and resources need-
ed to achieve ambitious, clearly-defined scientific and technological objectives 
of a European dimension1.

Types of project
Support under the 6th Framework Programme may be granted for projects re-
lated to one of the seven thematic areas listed below:

• life sciences, genomics and biotechnology for health;
• information society technologies;

 1 Debates on the budget and thematic priorities of the 7th Framework Programme are currently in progress. 
It will probably span the period 2006 – 2010 and the budget is expected to be EUR 30,000 million. The Eu -
ro pean Commission’s formal proposal is expected in the first half of 2005. The Member States and the Eu -
ro pean Parliament will negotiate the new programme during 2005 and 2006. The programme is expected to 
be agreed and launched towards the end of 2006.
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• nano-technologies and nano-sciences, knowledge-based functional ma te ri-
als, new production processes and devices;

• aeronautics and space;
• food quality and safety;
• sustainable development, global change and ecosystems;
• citizens and governance in a knowledge-based society.

Beneficiaries
Any legal person from an EU Member State, and third states including en ter prises 
(micro, small, medium-sized and large), craft enterprises, industry specific 
associations, chambers of commerce, etc.

Maximum rates of support:
• 35% of qualifying costs of demonstration projects;
• 50% of qualifying costs of R&D projects;
• 100% of qualifying costs of consortium management and training.

Terms and conditions
In order to receive a grant within the 6th Framework Programme the project will 
need to:

• comply with one of the above mentioned thematic areas;
• be implemented within one of the instruments designed for the Programme 

(e.g. Network of Excellence, Integrated Projects, Specific Support Actions, 
Specific Targeted Research Projects);

• be carried out by a consortium composed of foreign partners.

Deadlines:
• depends on the thematic area.

Procedure
Proposals should be submitted to the European Commission’s General Di rec tor-
ate for Research by the consortium leader in response to an official Call for 
Proposals relating to the specific programme priority. After project evaluation, 
the European Commission signs agreements with selected investors.

Environmental support within structural funds
Support for environmental protection covers aid for actions designed to remedy 
or prevent damage to physical surroundings or natural resources or to en courage 
the efficient use of these resources. Projects have to involve adjusting existing en -
vi ron men tal infrastructure to the requirements of EU environmental protection 
policy. 

Types of project:
• investments concerning water-sewage infrastructure management, i.e.:

– construction or modernisation of industrial sewage treatment and pre-treat-
ment facilities,

– change of technology designed to reduce amounts of water used and 
the quantities of dangerous substances discharged in sewage;

• investments concerning air protection, i.e.:
– modernisation or expansion of heating systems,
– installations limiting dust and gas emissions,
– investments in the production of electricity and heat using the association 

method,
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– conversion of combustion plants into environment friendly ones,
– projects designed to use alternative energy sources;

• investments concerning industrial and dangerous waste management, i.e.:
– creation of waste management systems through selective collection of 

waste and the construction and modernisation of waste recycling and 
utilisation installations,

– construction of waste disposal installations;
• investments utilising BAT (Best Available Techniques) concerning the limi-

tation of industrial pollution, modernisation of production technologies, 
decrease in the number of production systems with high energy and ma-
terial consumption, implementation of IPPC (Integrated Pollution Prevention 
and Control).

Beneficiaries:
• large, small and medium enterprises.

Maximum rates of support:
• from 30% to 50% of eligible costs in the case of large enterprises, an ad-

ditional 15 percentage points for SME but only for specified project types,
• additionally, the amount of aid cannot exceed EUR 5 million for all project 

types.

Terms and conditions:
• budget (Poland 2004 – 2006) – EUR 147 million;
• applications submitted to the National Fund for Environmental Protection and 

Water Management (Narodowy Fundusz Ochrony Œrodowiska i Gospodarki 
Wodnej).

Deadlines:
• the applications may be submitted at any time; the National Fund keeps a ran-

king list of the submitted applications that is updated every 2 months.

Procedure
Applications should be submitted to the National Fund for Environmental Pro-
tection and Water Management, which performs content evaluation and re views 
applications formally. On the basis of the recommendation of the Steering 
Committee, which co-operates in preparing project ranking, the Ministry of 
Economic Affairs & Labour makes the final selection of projects and specifies 
the co-financing amount. After the decision is made, the National Fund for 
Environmental Protection and Water Management signs financing agreements 
with the successful companies. Duration of the procedure has not yet been set.

Applications submitted are assessed, scored and ranked according to the cri -
te ria set in the Sectoral Operational Programme for the Improvement of En ter-
prise Competitiveness. 

Environmental support within European Community Pro gramme – 
LIFE-Environment
The LIFE-Environment programme supports pro-ecological demonstration 
projects and projects for the development of innovative solutions to en vi ron men tal 
prob lems.
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Types of project
Support can be given for selected areas of demonstration projects, such as:

• investments concerning water management;
• investments concerning reduction of the negative influence of economic 

activity on the environment;
• investments concerning waste management;
• investments concerning reduction of the negative influence of products on 

the environment through an integrated product policy.

Beneficiaries:
• entities registered in Member States, Romania and selected third countries.

Maximum rates of support:
• limits of project co-financing are 30% of eligible project costs (when the pro-

ject generates significant net profit), in other cases 50%.

Terms and conditions
In order to receive a grant the project must meet the following conditions:

• fulfil the criteria of one of the above mentioned groups;
• not have been started before the application is submitted;
• has to be innovative;
• includes a results dissemination phase;
• optimally – undertaken by an international consortium of SMEs.

Deadlines:
• the next deadline for the submission of applications is expected in autumn 

2005.

Procedure
Applications should be filed with the National Agency for the LIFE Programme, 
which is the Ministry of the Environment. The national institution is obliged to pass 
its assessment on to the European Commission. After project evaluation, the Eu -
ro pean Commission signs agreements with selected investors.

Training grants
Training aid covers all public support for training which benefits companies by 
reducing costs they would normally have to bear when they want their em ploy -
ees to acquire new skills. The Investor can obtain financial support for general 
and specialised training for employees and managers, e.g. concerning IT use 
and application, enterprise management, including human resources man age-
ment, work organisation improvements, periods of work practice for employees 
of enterprises in scientific and research institutions. 

Maximum reimbursement: 
• up to 60% of qualifying expenditures for general training;
• up to 35% of qualifying expenditures for specialised training.

Project costs are eligible for support once the financial covenant between the be-
neficiary and the relevant institution is signed.
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7. TAXATION

7.1 Corporate Income Tax (CIT)
The Personal Income Tax (PIT), Corporate Income Tax (CIT) and Tax on Goods 
and Services (VAT) Acts were all introduced in the early 1990s. Substantial mod-
i fi cations and amendments have been made to tax laws due to Poland’s acces-
sion to the European Union. The new Tax on Goods Services (VAT) Act is bind-
ing from the date of accession (May 1, 2004) The Act on Corporate Income Tax 
on has been sig nifi cantly modified with regard to cross-border transactions such 
as payments of divi dends and re struc turings. 

Scope

Resident vs. non-resident
A company is regarded as a Polish resident when it is either incorporated in 
Poland or managed and controlled in Poland. The concept of management for 
this pur pose is broadly equivalent to the effective management test in many 
treaties and is typically exercised where the board of directors (or equivalent) 
meets and takes decisions. Resident companies are subject to corporate tax-
ation on their world wide income and capital gains. Non-resident companies are 
taxed only on in come and capital gains earned in Poland. Under 2005 changes 
to the Act on Corporate In come Tax also foreign partnerships are subject to cor-
 po rate tax in Poland if they are treated in their home country as legal per sons 
having un lim ited tax liability. Estimates can be used to determine taxable in come 
where this cannot be de ter mined from the accounting records (see Revenues, 
page 62).

Taxation of partnerships formed by companies
Revenues derived and costs borne through partnerships are subject to Cor po-
rate Income Tax on the proportion of the corporate partners’ shares.

Branch vs. subsidiary
A branch of a non-resident company is generally taxed according to the same 
rules as a Polish company. Only its Polish source income is subject to taxation. 

The branch will usually be taxed on income determined on the basis of the ac-
counting records, which must be kept in Polish currency. However, there are 
regu lations providing for coefficients for specific revenue categories to be ap-
plied if the taxable base cannot be determined from the books (see Co effi cients, 
page 65).

There are no branch withholding taxes on the transfer of profits from a branch 
to its head office, as from the legal point of view a branch is considered to be 
a unit that is part of the foreign company.

A branch can be transformed into a subsidiary through the transfer of assets or 
the business to the subsidiary. 

Foreign-source income
Income from an overseas representative office or permanent establishment of a 
Polish resident company is included in the total taxable income of such a com-
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pany unless a double tax treaty provides for an exemption method (about 80% 
of the treaties provide so). Under the Polish–Japanese double tax treaty profits 
of the Japanese permanent establishment of Polish resident company are ex-
empt from taxation in Poland.

Polish law provides for tax credit on overseas Corporate Income Tax paid, but 
it is restricted to the amount of Polish tax on that income. Any excess foreign 
tax is lost.

Tax credit is allowable also with respect to the tax actually paid by the foreign 
subsidiary on this part of its profits out of which the dividend was paid (the “un-
derlying tax credit”). However, the total tax credit utilised (i.e., the ordinary and 
the underlying tax credit) cannot exceed the Polish tax due on that income.  

To apply the underlying tax credit, the Polish recipient should hold for a mini-
mum period of not less than 2 years at least 75% of capital in the company 
paying the dividends and the latter company should be resident in a country 
with which Poland has a valid double tax treaty. The holding requirement is 
lowered to 25% with respect to dividends received from a company resident 
in one of the EU Member States, provided that the Polish dividend recipient 
holds the shares for an uninterrupted period of not less than 2 years. 

The underlying tax credit does not apply to the payments of the liquidation pro-
 ceeds.

The changes to the Act on Corporate Income Tax for 2005 extend the right to 
underlying tax credit in respect to dividends received from the EU Member State 
second and lower tier subsidiaries. The minimum holding requirement for EU 
dividend payments will be lowered to 20% as of January 1, 2005 (15% as of 
January 1, 2007). The underlying tax credit will be available in respect to Cor-
po rate Income Tax paid by any lower tier subsidiaries of the company paying 
the dividend (if the minimum holding requirements are fulfilled at each holding 
level). Also, the right to the exemption from withholding tax will be extended to 
certain EU resident partnerships mentioned in the appendix 4 to the Act on Cor-
porate Income Tax.

Furthermore, the time requirement to hold the shares for an uninterrupted pe -
riod of not less than 2 years will not have to be fulfilled at the date of the pay-
ment (it will be possible to declare the will to hold shares and meet the holding 
period criterion after the dividend is paid). In case the Polish parent company 
could not utilize the right to credit in a given year, the tax credit may be carried 
forward to consecutive tax years. 

Financial and tax year
Corporate Income Tax is payable annually. However, advance monthly payments 
have to be made when cumulative income is recorded. Under certain cir cum stanc-
es, special rules concerning simplified advance monthly payments are available. 

The tax year consists of 12 consecutive months, and usually corresponds to the ca-
lendar year. A company may choose to extend its first tax year up to 18 months 
if it was established in the latter half of a calendar year and chose its standard 
tax year to be the calendar year. A company is free to change its tax year by cho-
osing another 12-month period and notifying the relevant tax office. As an ex-
ception when company changes its taxable year the first tax year after the change 
cannot be shorter than 12 or longer than 23 consecutive months.

Taxation
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Groups of companies 

Tax consolidation
A “tax capital group” may be formed for Corporate Income Tax purposes. Due 
to restrictions on forming and managing a group, this method of consolidation 
is rarely used. Taxable income for the group is calculated by combining the in-
comes and losses of all the companies. 

A tax capital group may be formed only by limited liability or joint-stock com -
pa nies based in Poland, provided that the average share capital is not lower than 
PLN 1 million. 

A tax capital group can only be formed by subsidiaries 95% owned by a parent 
company. No other structures are allowed. An agreement for joint group filing for 
a minimum period of 3 years must be signed before a notary public and filed 
with the tax office.

In practice, the applicability of tax capital groups is limited, as the company has 
to meet the following restrictive formation requirements:

• no outstanding tax liabilities to the Treasury (e.g. VAT, CIT) at the date the group 
is formed; this condition is satisfied also where a company, having joined 
a tax capital group, files an adjusted tax return and pays the out standing lia-
bility together with default interest within 14 days from the date when the ad-
justed declaration is filed or pays the arrears together with interest within 
14 days from the date the first instance decision assessing the amount of 
the liability is served on the company, and

• profitability ratio of the group not lower than 3% for each tax year.

The tax authorities have up to 6 years to inspect the taxpayer; hence it cannot 
be ruled out that the tax authorities may challenge the tax position of the com-
pa nies forming the group retrospectively. 

Group losses
When a group loss arises (i.e. the companies’ total losses exceed their total 
income), the group automatically loses its tax group status.

Asset transfers
The transfer of assets between companies of tax capital groups is treated as 
a normal disposal. However, transfer-pricing restrictions do not apply. Do nations 
between companies of tax capital group are CIT-neutral as the donor can de-
duct the value of the donation as the tax costs. Donations outside the group are 
not deductible.

Dividends within tax capital groups
Dividends can be paid free of withholding tax between members of a tax capital 
group.

Determination of taxable base 
In practice taxable income is arrived at by adjusting accounting profits for tax 
purposes. Taxpayers are obliged to keep books of account in a manner that 
allows determination of the taxable base and the amount of tax due. Otherwise, 
income will be assessed by the tax authorities.

Revenues
Generally, the taxable revenues of incorporated entities performing business ac -
tivities are recognised on an accrual basis (as a rule, when the invoice is issued 
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but not later than in the month in which the services/goods have been de liv ered).  
Under the amended Act on Corporate Income Tax since 2005 the definition of 
the rev enues has ex tended to include “partially free benefits” – so far only the be-
nefits re ceived without con sid er ation were taxable.

Capital gains
Chargeable capital gains are calculated by deducting the costs and expenses 
related to sale, from sales proceeds. They are aggregated with other sources 
of income and taxed at the standard tax rate. There is no indexation allowance. 
If the sales price differs substantially from market value, the tax office may require 
an independent expert valuation. Relief from Polish taxation may be available to 
a non-resident company if the respective country is covered by a double tax 
treaty. Under the double taxation treaty with Japan, capital gains from alienation 
of the business property of foreign permanent establishment situated in Poland 
are subject to tax in Poland.

Capital losses are deductible from normal business income.

A capital gain arising on a contribution in kind in exchange for the issue of shares 
will generally carry the liability to recognize revenue at the nominal value of shares 
received. In most cases the revenue should correspond to the fair market value 
of the assets contributed. In some situations the taxable point is deferred till the 
disposal of shares acquired in exchange for the contribution. e.g. when:

• a contribution involves an enterprise or an organized part of an en ter prise,
• shares are contributed to the EU resident company (if the shares re ceived 

in exchange give more than 50% of votes in the EU company) 

Tax deductible costs linked to contributions in kind vary according to the type 
of the asset contributed.

Dividends, interest royalties and services
Payments of dividends and other revenues from sharing in profits of Polish cor -
po ration made to Polish shareholder are subject to a 19% tax withheld by the payer. 
A payee is not liable to any further taxes on the dividend received. Divi dends paid 
abroad are also subject to a 19% withholding tax unless a relevant tax treaty 
provides otherwise. For example, the treaty with Japan reduces the amount of tax 
withheld to 10% of the gross amount of dividends if the entity receiving the divi-
dends is their beneficial owner. The reduced rate provided in a double tax treaty 
may be applied only if a taxpayer (foreign entity) supplies the required certificate 
of their tax residence or registered office abroad, issued by their tax authority. 

The Parent – Subsidiary Directive has been implemented to the Polish tax law. 
As a result, effective May 1, 2004 payments of dividends and other revenues 
from sharing in profits of Polish entities are exempt from withholding tax in Poland 
where the following conditions are jointly met:

• dividends are paid to a non-resident company;
• the beneficiary is subject to income tax on its world-wide income in one of 

the EU Member States;
• the beneficiary holds directly at least 20% of shares in the Polish company 

for an uninterrupted period of not less than 2 years.

However, the above rules do not apply to distributions of redemption and liq ui-
 dation proceeds. Under the 2005 CIT regime, the minimum holding period will not 
have to be fulfilled on the date of the payment. If the holding period is not fulfilled 
after the payment, the recipient of the dividend is obliged to pay the withholding 

Taxation
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tax together with the penalty interest (the redeuced treaty rate applies). Under draft 
changes the right to exemption will be conditional upon presenting the certificate 
of tax residence of the recipient of dividends to the Polish tax authorities.

In respect of the dividends paid by Polish subsidiary to the Polish corporate 
shareholder, the amount of tax withheld by a Polish dividend payer may be 
credited against the Polish payee’s tax liabilities (other than those resulting from 
share in corporate entities’ profits) and carried forward without limitation. The divi-
dend received by the Polish corporate shareholder is not included in its taxable 
revenues. Dividends can be paid free of withholding tax between mem bers of 
a tax capital group. 

Payments of interest and royalties are subject to standard tax rates at the payee’s 
level and are generally deductible for the payer. Payments of interest and roy -
alties to foreign companies are subject to a 20% withholding tax unless a rel-
evant tax treaty provides otherwise and an appropriate tax residence certificate 
is held. Under the treaty concluded with Japan the interest payments are taxed 
at the rate of 10% if beneficially owned by the recipient. Additionally, interest paid 
with respect of debt-claims guaranteed or indirectly financed by government and 
governmental units, as well as interest derived by such entities is exempt from 
withholding tax. 

As regards royalty payments the treaty with Japan provides for preferential 10% rate 
for industrial royalties and full exemption for cultural royalties beneficially owned 
by the entity being their recipient.

Under the CIT Law the 20% withholding rate applies also in the case of payments 
of fees for advisory, accounting, market research, legal assistance, advertising, 
management and control, data processing, search and selection services, 
guarantees and pledges and other similar services (unless the relevant treaty 
provides otherwise). Under most of the Polish tax treaties (including Japan) such 
payments are treated as business income taxable in the country of residence 
of the taxpayer.

Upon the entry to the EU, Poland should transpose the provisions of the EU 
Directive on Interest and Royalty Payments, which (under certain conditions) 
eliminates withholding tax on such payments, if payable to companies or per-
ma nent establishments of EU companies established in EU member countries. 
However, Poland has obtained a transition period in respect to this Directive. 
Following the transition rules, Poland is free not to apply the provisions of this 
Directive till July 1, 2005. After that date Poland should transpose the provisions 
of the Directive into its domestic law but may still impose the withholding tax at 
the reduced rates. Following the transition rules the withholding tax may be 
imposed at the amount of maximum 10% till June 30, 2009 (4 years) and 
maximum 5% till June 30, 2013 (subsequent 4 years); provided Directive cri te-
ria are met. Interest and royalties incoming to Poland from other EU countries 
should be generally exempt from withholding tax if the conditions imposed by 
the Directive are met and the EU source country has not been granted the tran-
 si tional period.

Since July 1, 2005 interest and royalty payments paid to EU countries will be 
subject to withholding tax at the reduced rate of 10% if, among other things, 
the following criteria are met jointly: 

• interest/royalties are paid by Polish resident company or permanent es tab-
lishment of EU company in Poland;
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• the beneficiary is subject to income tax on its world-wide income in one of 
the EU Member States;

• EU beneficiary and the Polish payer are ‘associated companies’ that is:
– the EU beneficiary holds directly at least 25% shares in the Polish payer, 

or
– the Polish payer holds directly at least 25% of shares in Polish EU ben-

efi ciary, or
– a third EU company holds directly at least 25% both in the capital of 

the EU beneficiary and the Polish payer,
• the holding will be maintained for an uninterrupted period of not less than 

2 years;
• the Polish payer will present the certificate of tax residence of the EU ben-

efi ciary to the Polish tax authorities.

Coefficients
Where it is impossible to determine the taxable income of foreign entities (branch-
es, permanent establishments) based on the books of account, the tax au thor-
ities may assess taxable income by applying the relevant coefficient for specific 
revenue categories. The coefficients are: 5% for wholesale and retail activities, 
10% for construction, assembly and transport services, 60% for agency ac tiv-
ities, 80% for legal or expert services, 20% for income derived from other sourc-
es. Subsequently, taxable income is taxed at a standard rate.

Costs
Generally, costs incurred for the purpose of earning revenue are tax deductible 
at the time the revenue is earned provided that appropriate apportionment is 
possible; otherwise, costs are deductible in the tax year in which they were 
incurred. Most costs are tax deductible unless they are of a capital nature or 
benefit from special treatment in law.

Depreciation
Assets which have a useful life of more than one year are deemed capital items 
and therefore are subject to depreciation. Tax depreciation is usually different 
from book depreciation. 

Tax depreciation rates are specified in tax law and cannot be exceeded. Both 
straight line and reducing balance methods are allowed (the latter applies only 
to machinery and equipment, except for passenger cars). 

Under certain circumstances, it is possible to apply accelerated tax de pre cia-
tion. Land is not subject to depreciation.

Certain brand new fixed assets can be subject to 30% depreciation write-off in 
the first year.

Taxation

 Asset Rate (%)

 Buildings 1.5 to 10

 Office equipment 14

 Computers 30

 Motor vehicles 20

 Plant and machinery 5 to 20

Typical examples of de pre ciation rates
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Intangibles subject to depreciation consist of the following:
• intellectual property rights and licenses;
• know-how (with the exception of know-how contributed in kind);
• goodwill which results from the purchase of a business (assets and liabili ties 

making up an enterprise or its organised part); goodwill on share deals is 
excluded from tax depreciation;

• certain research and development costs.

Intangibles are depreciated over a period ranging from 24 months (e.g. for li-
censes to computer software) to 60 months (e.g. for goodwill).

Bad debts
Bad debts may be written off only if they were previously accounted for as 
revenues for tax purposes (thus no loan/credit write-off is allowed with the ex-
ception of banks). Bad debts are claimed to be uncollectible and may be writ-
ten off when:

• a decision on uncollectibility issued by the debt collecting authorities is 
approved by the creditor as reflecting the actual situation;

• the court dismisses a request for bankruptcy where the bankruptcy assets are 
not sufficient to cover the costs of proceedings or discontinuation of bank-
ruptcy proceedings for the same reason or completion of the pro ceedings;

• the taxpayer files a statement that the projected costs of court or en force-
ment proceedings would exceed the amount of claims.

Uncollectibility of debts will be considered probable and therefore provision for 
doubtful debts may be created and recognised as cost when:

• a debtor dies or is deleted from the National Court Register or is put into 
liquidation or declared bankrupt;

• a debtor has requested settlement or bankruptcy proceedings and they have 
been initiated;

• a debt has been confirmed by a court decision and is subject to en force-
ment proceedings;

• a debt is questioned by the debtor under the court claim.

There are special rules for bad debt provision for banks.

Thin capitalisation
Interest due on loans or credits granted by a foreign related party (a sister 
company held by the same parent or a shareholder holding at least 25% of share 
capital measured by voting power) are not recognised as a tax deductible cost 
when the loan/share capital ratio exceeds 3:1 in a portion in which the loan (credit) 
exceeds this ratio. Thin capitalisation restrictions do not apply to interest on loans 
(credits) granted by entities based in or managed from Poland provided that they 
are not benefiting from Corporate Income Tax exemption under the Special 
Economic Zones regime.

For thin capitalization purposes, a “loan” is any kind of debt claim including debt 
securities and certain deposits.

In 2004 thin capitalization restrictions apply mainly to financing granted by non-
residents. Such provisions may be deemed discriminative in nature and thus 
contrary to the EU law (see the European Court of Justice ruling in the Lankhorst 
– Hohorst case (C-324/00). From May 1, 2004 such restrictions should not have 
been applicable to EU residents. 
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Changes to the Act on Corporate In come Tax for 2005 extend the thin capi tal-
i zation rules to financing granted by Polish entities. Transition rules provide 
however, that loans granted before new rules become effective (January 1, 2005) 
will be governed by the 2004 regulations.  

Others
There are exceptions to the matching concept, e.g. foreign exchange gains/losses 
are generally only taxable/deductible when realised (i.e. settled). Certain ex pen-
di tures are not tax deductible, for instance:

• expenditures incurred in respect of abandoned investments;
• most penalties and fines;
• expenditures incurred in excess of the statutory limit (e.g. depreciation charges 

and insurance of passenger cars over EUR 20,000, representation and non-
public advertising over 0.25% of the revenues, business trip allowances).

Losses
Tax losses suffered by a company having legal personality may be carried 
forward and credited against income over the period of the following 5 tax years. 
Only half of the original loss may be deducted in any of the 5 years. Losses can-
not be carried back.

Withholding taxes
The standard rate of withholding tax is 19% on dividends and 20% on interest 
and royalties. If paid abroad, the rate may be reduced by a double tax treaty 
upon presentation of a certificate of residence. The table below shows the with-
holding tax rates for Polish double tax treaties. Please note that there are 
modifications to this rules imposed by rules introduced with regard to the Par-
ent-Subsidiary Directive.

Taxation

 Dividends Interest Royalties
Albania 5 / 10  (d) 10 5

Australia 15 10 10

Austria (ee) 10 0 0

Austria (ee) 
(new treaty) 5 / 15 (a) 0 / 5 (k) 5

Bangladesh 10 / 15 (a) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Belarus 10 / 15 (e) 10 0

Belgium (bb) 10 0 / 10 (k) 10

Belgium (bb) 
(new treaty) 5 / 15 (ff) 0 / 5 (k) 5

Bulgaria 10 0 / 10 (k) 5

Canada 15 0 / 15 (k) 0 / 10 (f)

Republic of 
China 10 0 / 10 (k) 7 / 10 (h)
Croatia 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Cyprus 10 0 / 10 (k) 5

Czech 
Republic 5 / 10 (c) 0 / 10 (k) 5

Withholding taxes under Poland’s tax treaties (%)

(a) The lower rate applies if the recipient of the divi dends 
is a company that owns at least 10% of the payer.

(b) The lower rate applies if the recipient of the divi dends 
is a company that owns at least 15% of the payer.

(c) The lower rate applies if the recipient of the divi dends 
is a company that owns at least 20% of the payer.

(d) The lower rate applies if the recipient of the divi-
dends is a company that owns at least 25% of the 
payer. Under the Ireland treaty, if Ireland levies tax at 
source on dividends, the 0% rate is replaced by a rate 
of 5%.

(e) The lower rate applies if the recipient of the divi-
dends is a company that owns more than 30% of 
the payer.

(f) The lower rate applies to royalties paid for copy -
rights, among other items; the higher rate applies to 
royalties for patents, trademarks and industrial, com-
mer cial or scientific equipment or information.

(g) The lower rate applies if the recipient of the divi dends 
is a company that owns at least 10% of the voting 
shares of the payer.

(h) The lower rate applies to royalties paid for the use 
of, or the right to use, industrial, commercial or 
scientific equipment.

(i) The lower rate applies to cultural royalties.
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Denmark 0 / 5 / 15  0 / 5 (k) 5
 (s)

Egypt  12 0 / 12 (k) 12

Estonia 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Finland 5 / 15 (d) 0 0 / 10 (f)

France 5 / 15 (a) 0 0 / 10 (p)

Germany (dd) 5 / 15 (d) 0 0

Germany (dd) 
(new treaty) 5 / 15 (a) 0 / 5 (k) 5

Greece 19 10 10

Hungary 10 0 / 10 (k) 10

Iceland 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

India 15 0 / 15 (k) 20 (cc)

Indonesia 10 / 15 (c) 0 / 10 (k) 15

Ireland 0 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 0 / 10 (v)

Israel 5 / 10 (b) 5 5 / 10 (h)

Italy 10 0 / 10 (k) 10

Japan 10 0 / 10 (k) 0 / 10 (i)

Jordan 10 0 / 10 (k) 10

Kazakhstan 10 / 15 (c) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Korea 5 / 10 (a) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Kuwait 0 / 5 (z) 0 / 5 (k) 15

Latvia 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Lithuania 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Luxembourg 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Macedonia 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Malaysia 0 15 15

Malta 5 / 15 (c) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Mexico 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 5 / 15 
(k) (aa) 10 

Moldova 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Mongolia 10 0 / 10 (k) 5

Morocco 7 / 15 (d) 10 10

Netherlands (r) 5 / 15 (t) 0 / 5 (k) (u) 5

Norway 5 / 15 (d) 0 0 / 10 (f)

Pakistan 15 (j) 0 / 20 (k) 15 / 20 (n)

Philippines 10 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 15

Portugal 10 / 15 (o) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Romania 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Russian 
Federation  10 0 / 10 (k) 10 (w)

Singapore 0 / 10 (z) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Slovak 
Republic 5 / 10 (c) 0 / 10 (k) 5

Slovenia 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

(j) This rate applies if the recipient of the dividends is 
a company that owns at least one-third of the payer.

(k) The lower rate applies to, among other items, in terest 
paid to government units, local authorities and cen -
tral banks. In the case of certain countries, the rate 
also applies to banks (the list of exempt or pre ferred 
recipients varies by country). The relevant treaty 
should be checked in all cases. 

(l) The 0% rate applies to royalties paid for, among other 
items, copyrights. The 10% rate applies to royalties 
paid for patents, trademarks and for in dus trial, com-
mer cial or scientific equipment or in for mation.

(m) The new treaty with Federal Republic of Yugoslavia 
applies to the former Yugoslav Republic of Serbia 
and Montenegro 

(n) The lower rate applies to know-how; the higher rate 
applies to copyrights, patents and trademarks.

(o) The 10% rate applies if, on the date of the payment 
of dividends, the recipient of the dividends has 
owned at least 25% of the share capital of the payer 
for an un in terrupted period of at least two years. 
The 15% rate applies to other dividends.

(p) The lower rate applies to royalties paid for the fol-
lowing: copyrights; the use of or the right to use 
industrial, commercial and scientific equipment; 
services comprising scientific or technical studies; 
or research and advisory, supervisory or man agement 
services. The treaty should be checked in all cases.

(q) The lower rate applies to know-how, patents and 
trademarks.

(r) These are the withholding tax rates under a new treaty 
between Poland and the Netherlands, which re places 
the prior treaty between the countries, effective from 
January 1, 2004.

(s) The 0% rate applies if the beneficial owner of the divi-
dends is a company that holds directly at least 25% 
of the capital of the payer of the dividends for at least 
one year and if the dividends are declared within 
such holding period. The 5% rate applies to divi dends 
paid to pension funds or other similar in sti tutions 
operating in the field of pension sys tems. The 15% 
rate applies to other dividends.

(t) The 5% rate applies if the recipient of the dividend 
is a company that owns at least 10% of the payer.

(u) Interest derived under contracts concluded before 
the new treaty with the Netherlands was executed 
(Feb ruary 13, 2002) are subject to the 0% rate dur-
ing 2004.

(v) The lower rate applies to fees for technical ser vices.
(w) The 10% rate also applies to fees for technical ser-

vices.
(x) The 20% rate also applies to certain services (for 

example advisory, accounting, market research, le -
gal assistance, advertising, management and con trol, 
data processing, search and selection services, guar -
an tees and pledges and other similar services).

(y) The rate is 10% if Switzerland imposes a withholding 
tax on royalties paid to non resi dents (currently, Swit -
zer land does not impose such a tax).

(z) The lower rate applies to certain dividends paid to 
government units or companies.

 Dividends Interest Royalties
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Tax and investment in centives 
Polish law provides for Corporate Income Tax incentives, such as those granted 
for the entities acting in the territories of special economic zones. There are now 
14 zones in Poland (see page 48).

In principle, companies operating within Special Economic Zones may enjoy tax 
holidays, which involve tax exemption from Corporate Income Tax de pending on 
the amount invested within the SEZ. Benefiting from the tax exemption is possi-
ble only if the investor obtains a special permit issued by the authorities of the SEZ. 
Regulations applicable to a particular SEZ specify the minimum in vestment value 
required and/or the number of employees that must be hired to benefit from the tax 
exemption. 

The legislation, which came into force on January 1, 2001, aligned the state aid 
regime in SEZs with European Union rules (that is, state aid up to 50% of the eli-
gible investment costs for large companies and up to 65% for small and me-
dium-sized enterprises – SME, depending on the region). 

Transfer pricing
Poland has implemented transfer pricing rules which typically operate by ref er-
ence to the arm’s length principle.

Taxation

Republic of
South Africa 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Spain 5 / 15 (d) 0 0 / 10 (f)

Sri Lanka 15 0 / 10 (k) 0 / 10 (l)

Sweden (gg) 5 / 15 (d) 0 10

Switzerland 5 / 15 (d) 10 0 (y)

Syria  10 0 / 10 (k) 18

Thailand 19 (ii) 0 / 10 / 20  5 / 15 (f) 
  (k) (jj)

Tunisia 5 / 10 (d) 12 12

Turkey 10 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Ukraine 5 / 15 (d) 0 / 10 (k) 10

United 
Arab Emirates 0 / 5 (hh)  0 / 5 (k) 5

 (z)

United 
Kingdom 5 / 15 (g) 0 10

United States 5 / 15 (g) 0 10

Uzbekistan 5 / 15 (c) 0 / 10 (k) 10

Vietnam 10 / 15 (d) 10 10 / 15 (q)

Yugoslavia (m) 5 / 15 (d) 10 10

Zimbabwe 10 / 15 (d) 10 10

Non treaty 
countries 19 20 20 (x) 

(aa) The 5% rate applies to interest paid to banks and 
insurance companies and to interest on bonds.

(bb) Poland and Belgium have signed and ratified a new 
tax treaty to replace the existing treaty between the 
coun tries. The new treaty starts to apply on January 
1, 2005. New rates are shown in the table under: Bel-
 gium (new treaty).

(cc) Because the rate under the domestic law in Poland 
is 20%, the treaty rate of 22.5% does not apply.

(dd) Poland and Germany have signed a new tax treaty 
to replace the existing treaty between the countries. 
The treaty would be applicable on January 1, 2005. 
The new treaty rates are shown in the table under: 
Ger many (new treaty).

(ee) Poland has signed a new tax treaty with Austria. The 
ratification procedure would probably come to an 
end during 2005 The new treaty rates are shown in 
the table under: Austria (new treaty). 

(ff) The lower rate applies if the recipient of the divi -
dends is a company that owns:
• at least 25% of the payer, or
• at least 10% of the payer if the value of in vestments 

amounts at least to EUR 500,000 or its equiva lent.
(gg) The new Treaty with Sweden is being negotiated.
(hh) The lower rate applies if the owner of dividends is 

government or governmental institution.
(ii) Because the rate under the domestic law in Poland 

is 19%, the treaty rate of 20% does not apply.
(jj) The 20% rate applies, if the recipient of the interest 

is not a financial or insurance institution or gov ern-
men tal unit - see footnote (k). The treaty should be 
checked in every case.

 Dividends Interest Royalties
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Where one individual or corporate entity participates (directly or indirectly) in 
the management or control, or holds at least 5% share in another corporate entity, 
and the entities do not comply with the arm’s length principle, cross border 
transfer pricing restrictions may be applied. The restrictions are also applicable 
when another individual or corporate entity takes part (directly or indirectly) in 
the management or control, or holds stocks in these entities.

Domestic transfer pricing restrictions are applicable where any of the above 
relations arises between Polish entities, as well as where there are family, 
employment or property relations between the Polish entities themselves or 
between the individuals exercising management, control or supervisory functions 
in such entities.  

In such cases, the tax authorities may substitute transaction prices for market prices 
based on the following methods: comparable uncontrolled price method, resale price 
method, reasonable margin (cost plus) method, or transaction profit method.

Poland follows the Transfer Pricing Guidelines of Organisation for Economic Co-
operation and Development (OECD), including formal documentation re quire-
ments for transactions with related companies and a specific penalty regime for 
transfer pricing adjustments. Under those requirements, the tax authorities may 
request that taxpayers submit – within 7 days – transfer pricing documentation.

The requirement to prepare documents also applies to transactions in which the pay-
ment is made directly or indirectly to an entity whose residence, reg is tered office 
or place of management is situated in a territory or in a country pursuing harmful 
tax competition practices (so-called tax havens), even if the entity is not related 
party.

As the deadline for submitting the documentation is short (7 days), from the prac-
tical viewpoint taxpayers should prepare it when the transaction is being carried 
out.

The reporting requirements apply to transactions with related parties effected 
after December 31, 2000 and those arising from contracts executed there af -
ter. For operations with entities based in tax havens, the requirement applies 
to trans actions effected or contracts executed in 2002. The Minister of Fi nance 
(Min is ter Finansów) published a list of countries and territories pursuing harm-
ful tax com pe tition policies. This list includes mainly countries commonly re -
ferred as the tax havens. However, certain European countries are also con sid-
 ered as pur suing harmful tax competition in certain fields. For example in ad-
min is tration services: Belgium, France, Greece, the Netherlands, Germany, and 
Swit zer land. In fi nan cial services, for example: Belgium, the Netherlands, Lux-
em bourg, Switzerland. Various European tax free zones and centers are listed 
as well. These rules seem to be contrary to the prevailing rules of the EU law 
– however, in practice we have not seen any case where the tax authorities 
requested documentation of the transactions concluded with EU countries. 

Failure to comply with the reporting requirement will attract a penal rate of tax. 
If the tax authorities or tax inspection authorities assess a taxpayer’s income at 
an amount higher (or loss at an amount lower) than that declared by the tax payer 
in connection with a transaction, and the taxpayer does not submit the required 
documentation, the difference between the income declared by the taxpayer and 
that assessed by the tax authorities will be taxable at a penal rate of 50%. 
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* Note: Cumulative tax is shown net of the annual tax credit of PLN 530.08 (see Deductions and ex emptions, 
page 72).

Taxable base (PLN) Tax

Up to 37,024 19% minus the tax free amount PLN 530,08

37,024 – 74,048 PLN 6,504.48* + 30% of the amount over 37,024.00

Over 74,048 PLN 17,611.68* + 40% of the amount over 74,048.00

Personal Income Tax rates

Rates 
Corporate Income Tax
The standard Corporate Income Tax rate for 2005 is 19%. Where the taxpayer’s 
tax year is different from the calendar year, the start of the tax year determines 
what the tax rate will be applicable during the entire tax year.

Returns and payments 
An annual tax return must be filed and any tax due paid by the end of the third 
month of the following tax year. Monthly declarations and advance payments are 
required. In certain circumstances, a company might benefit from the simplified 
declaration procedure.

Fines and penalty interest might be imposed (at an annual rate of 16% as at 
publication date) for failure to comply with the above requirements.

7.2 Personal Income Tax
Individuals who are domiciled (i.e. staying with the intention to stay per ma nently) 
in Poland are subject to tax on their world-wide income. 

Limited taxation (i.e. on Polish source income only) applies to those individuals 
who are not domiciled in Poland. 

Income tax is payable on most sources of income including cash and in-kind 
benefits which are taxable as salary. One of the most important exceptions are 
relocation costs, which may be reimbursed at levels of up to twice the person’s 
monthly salary in the month of relocation, which is tax free. 

Interest income from personal, i.e. non-business, bank accounts and income from 
dividends are subject to a 19% withholding tax and are not subject to further 
taxation. The above flat rates are applied unless a double tax treaty provides 
for a reduced tax rate or excludes Poland’s right to tax. In order to benefit from 
the treaty regulations, an individual must however provide the interest/dividend 
payer with a certificate of foreign residence. 

Capital gains from sale of shares are also subject to 19% tax, while those earned 
from disposal of other assets than real estate are subject to tax as normal in-
come. However, there are some exceptions and exemptions, including tangible 
assets held for longer than 6 months, real estate held for more than 5 years.

Personal Income Tax for 2005 is payable at progressive rates as follows with 
the top rate on the income above PLN 74,048. Consequently, the tax brackets 
are as follows: 

Taxation

For some individuals e.g. the self-employed, members of civil partnerships, under 
certain conditions a flat tax at 19% rate is applicable if certain conditions are met.
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Special rules for expatriates 
Foreign nationals with limited liability to Polish tax will be taxable solely on in-
come received in connection with the performance of duties in Poland or from 
Polish sources. For those who qualify for limited tax liability, income from board 
duties (under certain conditions) and Polish Civil Code contracts such as per-
sonal services contract, specific task agreement may be taxed at a flat rate of 
20%. In such cases, no deductions are available. 

Social security taxes
Social security contributions are payable at rates of 18.71% by employees and 
(19.83% – 22.72%) by employers up to a cumulative earnings limit of PLN 72,690 
and 2.45% by employees and (3.57% – 6.46%) by employers thereafter. 

Contributions consist of four elements: pension (19.52%), disability (13%), sickness 
(2.45%) and industrial injury (0.97% – 3.86%) insurance. The rate for the industrial 
injury insurance depends on the type of business activity conducted. The first 2 are 
payable in equal parts by employees and employers up to the imit of PLN 72,690. 
Sickness insurance is only paid by employees and accident insurance only by 
employers. Both are uncapped. Employers must also pay contributions of 2.45% 
to the Labour Fund and 0.15% to guarantee the salaries of employees of bank-
rupt companies.

In general, for individuals subject to personal services contracts, contributions are 
computed in a similar way as for employment income, i.e. are payable at the same 
rates, allocated between the service provider and the principal as between 
employees and employers and subject to the same limits, or un capped as appro-
priate. In certain cases, it may be possible to avoid payment of sickness and 
accident insurance. If the personal service contract is concluded with an em ployer, 
social security is payable as in the case of an employment con tract.

Where an individual concluded a contract with a third party and already pays 
contributions in respect of e.g. an employment contract, payment of con tri butions 
for a personal service contract is voluntary unless the work is performed for the ul-
timate benefit of the original employer. However, in general the re mu neration from 
the full time employment contract must be PLN 849 per month or higher (in 2005).

In addition to the above healthcare contribution is payable. The contribution in 
question amounts to 8.25% (in 2004) and 8.5% (in 2005) of the employment in come 
decreased by the employee social security contribution assessed. The healthcare 
contribution may be deducted from tax on employment income up to 7.75% of 
its calculation basis. Consequently, the remaining part of the health care con tri-
bution (0.50% of the assessment basis in 2004 and 0.75% in 2005) is left as an addi-
tional non-deductible cost (decreasing the after-tax income).

As of May 1, 2004, after Poland accession to the EU, the European social security 
regulations have started to apply. The general rule involves con trib uting to the so-
cial security system of the country where the work is actually performed. 

Deductions and exemptions 
A deduction of PLN 102.25 per month is available in respect of expenses as-
so ciated with earning employment income. Those with more than 1 em ployment 
are entitled to an increased deduction up to 1.5 times the maximum. 
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An annual tax credit of PLN 530.08 is available to all individuals who have a taxable 
presence in Poland. Married couples are entitled to the allowance, re gardless 
of whether they are taxed separately or jointly.

The individuals engaged under Polish Civil Code contracts (but not expatriates 
with limited tax liability or those with management contracts) may deduct 20% 
of their income as costs of earnings, irrespective of whether these expenses are 
actually incurred.

Higher deductions are available to individuals engaged under Polish Civil Code 
contracts if their actual expenses are greater than 20%. Certain ac tivities, e.g. ex-
ploiting a copyright, attract a 50% deduction.

Until 2005, individual with unlimited tax liability may benefit from a one-off tax 
credit for repairs and renovations of up to PLN 6,615. 

Returns and payments 
All Polish employers must withhold tax on their employees’ taxable salary and make 
payments to the tax office by the 20th day of the month following the month of pay-
ment. In certain cases, employees may select for an employer to file an annual 
tax return and settle any outstanding liability through an ad justment to the sub-
se quent year’s withholdings.

Self-employed individuals who work in Poland, or expatriates working for and paid 
by a foreign entity, are personally responsible for meeting monthly filing re quire-
ments. The deadline is the 20th day of the next month.

An annual return must normally be filed (as well as the tax due be paid) by April 
30 of the following year, stating all sources of income and showing any addi -
tional tax due. Self-employed individuals benefiting from a flat tax rate are obliged 
to file the annual return by January 31 or April 30, depending on the method of 
taxation that is applicable to their income. Separate annual tax return should be 
filled with respect to capital gain income (e.g. sale of shares).

Married couples may file joint returns, provided they are both taxed on their world-
wide income. Then, their tax liability is calculated on the half of the total income 
and multiplied by two.

Expatriates who qualify for limited tax liability do not have to report income taxed 
at 20% flat rate in their annual return as this is the final tax liability.

Disclosure requirements
The requirements introduced as of January 1, 2003 concern those entities that 
benefit from work or services provided by individuals (predominantly for eigners) 
without a domicile in Poland. In the situation where the remuneration of such 
persons is paid by non-residents within the meaning of the currency law (e.g. by 
a foreign company), the Polish entity using such work or services will be re quired 
to collect, prepare and disclose information concerning the re mu neration for work 
or services provided to it.

The requirement will arise if: 
• in connection with tax treaties and other international agreements ratified by 

Poland, it may affect the tax obligation  or tax liability of persons receiving 
the remuneration;

Taxation
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• a non-resident participates, directly or indirectly, in the management or con -
trol of an entity subject to the duty of disclosure, or holds an interest in 
such an entity’s share capital, to which at least 5% of all voting rights are 
attached. 

The above information should be disclosed without a prior request from the tax 
authorities by March 31 of the year following the year of remuneration (income) 
payment.

7.3 Value Added Tax (VAT)

General
On May 1, 2004 Poland became a member of the European Union (EU) and a part 
of the Common Market. Generally, the Polish Tax on Goods and Services (VAT) 
Act has been changed in line with the regulations of VI Directive and other EU 
Directives related with VAT. However, based on the Accession Treaty, there are 
some derogations as far as the harmonization is concerned.  

Scope of the VAT 
Under the Polish VAT regulations, VAT applies to the following transactions:

• supply of goods and services made in Poland for consideration; the supply 
of goods includes handing over by a taxpayer of business – related goods 
for not business – related purposes, e.g. donations; however, the supply 
of samples and small gifts in the course of the business is ex cluded from 
the VATable events;

• exportation of goods outside the EU;
• importation of goods from outside the EU;
• intra-Community purchase of goods effected for consideration in Poland, 

inclusive of the movement of goods between different Member States within 
the same business; 

• intra-Community supply of goods inclusive of the movement of goods be-
tween different Member States within the same business.

Activities which are outside the scope of VAT include selling up the company 
or a branch that prepares its balance sheet independently. 

Taxpayers
The taxpayers are legal entities, organisational units without the status of le-
gal persons and individuals that independently carry on any economic activity, 
disregarding its goal or results. The use of word ‘independently’ means that 
employees under contracts of employment are excluded from tax. Moreover, other 
persons rendering services under ‘ad-hoc’ agreements are also outside the scope 
of VAT provided they are bound to the employer by a contract of employment 
or by any other legal ties creating an employee-employer relationship with 
re gard to the working conditions, remuneration and employer’s liability.

A VAT payer is also an entity which is the recipient of the services rendered or 
goods delivered by taxpayers having their registered seat, fixed place of busi-
ness or place of residence abroad. 
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A VAT payer is also an entity:
• performing intra-Community supply of new means of transport; 
• that makes intra-Community purchase in Poland or 
• performing distance sales to Polish customers in excess of the threshold of 

EUR 35,000.

Public bodies that act within the scope of their activities are not considered as 
taxpayers.  

VAT registration
Entities that perform VATable activities in Poland are obliged to register for VAT 
before undertaking their first taxable activity. Upon VAT registration they gain 
the status of the active VAT payers. Taxpayers who are eligible for VAT ex emp-
tion with no right to deduct input VAT (activity - or entity - related) may register 
for VAT. If they do, they receive confirmation from the tax office that they are reg -
is tered as exempt VAT payer.

Taxpayers must notify in advance their intention of making intra-Community trans -
actions to the Polish tax authorities. On the basis of this notification, the entity 
is registered as an EU VAT payer.

Taxpayers whose net amount of its taxable sales did not exceed EUR 10,000 
in the previous year are exempt from VAT. Similarly, taxpayers commencing to 
perform taxable sales during the tax year are exempt from VAT if the expected 
net amount of their taxable sales in a corresponding fraction does not exceed 
EUR 10,000. However, taxpayers are entitled to elect not to ulilize the above 
exemptions provided they notify the relevant tax office of their intention. 

Fiscal representative
VAT payers that have no registered seat, fixed place of business or place of res-
i dence in Poland or other EU country are obliged to appoint a fiscal rep re sen tative. 

The fiscal representative is jointly liable with the business it represents for 
all Polish Tax liabilities.

The place of supply rules
The place of supply with respect to goods is considered the following:

• the place where the goods are at the time of dispatch or transport to the pur-
chaser;

• the place of installation or assembly;
• the place where the goods are at the time of delivery (in case they are not 

dispatched or transported);
• as regards the delivery of goods on ship, plain or train boards – the place 

where the passenger transport starts;
• the country of importation.

The place of intra-Community purchase is in principle the place where the trans-
 port or dispatch ends.

The place of supply of services, in principle, is the place where the supplier has 
his registered seat or fixed place of business or the place of residence. How-
ever, there are special rules determining the place of supply of, among others:

Taxation
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• services connected with immovable property – the place of supply is where 
the property is situated;

• transportation services – the place of supply is the place where the trans-
port takes place, having regard to distances covered; 

• intangible services, e. g. consultancy, advertising, electronic services etc. 
– the place of supply is assigned to the place of establishment of the cus-
tomer provided that the customer is a taxpayer established in the EU or any 
entity established in the third country. 

VAT rates and the taxable base 
In Poland, 3 rates of VAT apply – the standard rate of 22%, the reduced rates of 
7% and of 0%. The standard rate of VAT applies to all supplies of goods or ser-
vices, unless a specific provision allows a reduced rate or exemption. As an exam-
ple, the 7% VAT rate is applicable to health care related goods and hotel servi-
ces. 0% supplies include exports of goods outside the European Union and intra-
Community supplies of goods. In addition, on the basis of the EU Accession Treaty, 
exclusively within the transitional period, i.e. till April 30, 2008, the super-re duced 
VAT rate of 3% may be applied to foodstuffs. 

Under the VAT Law some supplies are exempt (without a right to deduct input 
VAT), e.g., supplies of financial or health care services.

The taxable base for VAT purposes is net turnover, including received subsidy, 
subvention and any other extra of similar nature related to supply of goods or 
services, decreased by the amounts of rebates and discounts. 

As regards import of goods, the taxable base is the customs value increased 
by all customs and excise duties, including provision, packaging transportation 
and insurance costs incurred up to the first place of destination in Poland. 

The taxable base for intra-Community purchase of goods is the amount of 
payment due from the purchaser, inclusive of taxes and duties paid in connec-
tion with the goods purchase as well as costs of provision, packaging, trans por-
tation and insurance collected by the seller.

Tax point

General rules
In principle, under the Polish VAT regulations the tax point arises when the goods 
have been released or the services have been completed. Where a transaction 
should be documented with a VAT invoice, the tax point is the time when such 
a document is issued, but no later than on the 7th day from the day the goods 
were released or the services completed. However, for selected supplies (e.g. elec-
tricity, telecommunications, transport, leasing) the tax point is deemed to arise 
at a different point (e.g. payment deadline or payment receipt).

Prepayments
The tax point for an advance payment or prepayment received before the goods 
are released or services completed is the date of payment receipt.

Exported goods
As a rule, the tax point for exported goods arises upon confirmation by customs 
that the goods have been transported outside the Community.
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Imported goods
In general, the tax point for imported goods is the date when the goods clear 
customs.

Intra-Community purchase
The tax point for an intra-Community purchase of goods is the 15th day of the month 
following the month in which the supply of goods subject to intra-Commu nity 
purchase occurred. However, if the supplier issues an invoice prior to this dead-
line, the tax point arises when the invoice is issued.

Intra-Community supply
The tax point for an intra-Community supply of goods is the 15th day of the month 
following the month in which the supply occurred. If prior to this deadline a tax-
payer issues an invoice, the tax point arises when the invoice is issued.

Recovery of input VAT

General rules
A taxpayer may recover input tax, i.e. the VAT charged on goods and services 
supplied to it and used for taxable business purposes. Input tax is generally 
recovered by being deducted from output tax, i.e. the VAT charged on the sup-
plies made.

Input tax includes:
• VAT charged on goods and services supplied within Poland;
• VAT paid on imports; 
• VAT self - assessed on the intra-Community purchases of goods;
• VAT self - assessed on the purchase of goods and services taxed under 

the reverse charge.

Input tax may not be recovered, e.g., on the purchase of fuel, diesel or gas used 
for passenger cars or on restaurant services. In the case of purchase or lease 
of a passenger car, partial recovery of input VAT is allowed.

Input tax directly related to making exempt supplies is generally not re cov erable 
(but it can be, under certain conditions, deducted as a cost for Corporate In-
come Tax purposes), except for input tax related to financial services rendered 
to entities established outside the EU. 

Partial recovery
If a taxpayer makes both exempt and taxable supplies and it cannot allocate 
its input VAT accordingly, it cannot recover input VAT in full. For determining 
the amount of VAT that may be recovered in this situation, the taxpayer cal cu-
lates a proportion representing the ratio of turnover made on taxable supplies 
in the total turnover. The ratio is subject to correction at the end of the tax year. 
In connection with this, capital goods adjustments are required to be made with 
respect to fixed assets (adjusted for a period of 5 years) and immovable pro-
perty (adjusted for a period of 10 years).

Refund of VAT
Excess of input VAT may be carried forward against future VAT liabilities or 
refunded. Refunds are generally made within 180 days. Where a company 
performs activities taxed at the reduced rates or are zero-rated or if the excess 
VAT is due to fixed asset purchases, the refund period is accordingly reduced 

Taxation
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to 60 days. Under certain conditions the above deadlines can be shortened up 
respectively to 60 and 25 days. 

Under certain circumstances (investment purchases), it is also possible to claim 
an advance VAT refund, i.e. before performing the first VAT-able activity.

VAT returns and EU Declarations 
As a rule VAT returns are filed on a monthly basis. VAT returns and full payment 
of the VAT due must be made by the 25th day of the month following the month 
in which the tax point arose. 

In addition, taxpayers who supply services for the benefit of individuals not 
involved in business activity are obliged to operate cash registers under special 
rules.

The taxpayers who trade in goods with other EU countries must also complete 
statistical reports (INTRASTAT) on a monthly basis and EC Sales and Purchase 
Lists (recapitulative statements) on a quarterly basis. 

Separate statistical reports are required for intra-Community purchases (INTRA-
STAT Arrivals) and for intra-Community supplies (INTRASTAT Dis patches). The sub-
mission deadline is the 10th day following the month in which the given trans-
action should be declared. 

EC recapitulative statements must be submitted by the 25th day of the month fol-
lowing the end of the quarter in which the tax point arose with respect to the intra-
Community purchases or intra-Community supplies.  

Special procedures 
Under the Polish VAT regulations, special rules apply with respect to:

• small entrepreneurs;
• flat - rate farmers;
• supply of tourist services;
• supply of second - hand goods, works of art, collectors’ items and an tiques;
• investment gold;
• tax refund for tourists;
• foreign entities supplying electronic services to non – taxpayers within the EU.

7.4 Customs Duty and Excise Duty

Customs Duty
Starting from May 1, 2004 Poland became part of the European Union, i.e. be-
came part of the Customs Union. Most of the Polish customs provisions were 
replaced with the respective EU regulations including Community Customs Code, 
Community Tariff and implementing provisions. Becoming a part of the Customs 
Union involved abolition of any physical and fiscal barriers (e.g. customs con-
trols, customs duties) between Poland and other EU member states. Trans ac-
tions involving transfer of the goods between Poland and EU member states 
changed their nature from import/export into respectively intra-Community pur-
chase and supply. At the same time transfers of goods between Poland and non-
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EU member states sustained their nature as import/export, however, they are 
subject to the uniform EU rules.

Application of the Community Customs Code and implementing rules implies that 
importation of goods into Poland is subject to the same rules as importation to 
any other member of the EU. As a result of application of the Community Cus-
toms Code and implementing rules in Poland:

• new types of customs bonded warehouses have been introduced, in clud-
ing customs bonded warehouse of E type (the goods can be covered with 
the customs warehouse procedure without actually being placed in the cus-
toms warehouse);

• scope of the documents required in order to obtain the authorization to apply 
customs suspension arrangements has been reduced;

• rules of establishing the customs liabilities in case of outward processing 
procedure have been simplified;

• new customs procedures, i.e. internal and external Community transit have 
been introduced;

• rules regarding customs valuation of goods (e.g. inclusion of license fees 
in the customs value or corrections of customs value) became more trans-
lu cent. 

Customs procedures are not applicable with respect of the goods transferred 
to or from the EU (as transactions performed within the customs union), the cus-
toms procedures are applicable only with respect of the goods coming from 
or being sent to the non-EU countries.

The Customs Duty rates applicable to importation of goods into Poland result from 
the Customs Tariff. As a result of introduction of the Community Customs Tariff 
the overall level of Customs Duty rates has been significantly reduced. The free-
trade agreements concluded by Poland in previous years were revoked prior to 
accession into the EU. Instead, Poland adopted the free-trade agreements con-
cluded by the EU, as well as EU Generalised System of Preferences (GSP) 
under which the reduced Customs Duty rates are applicable to goods imported 
from under-developed and the least developed countries. Based on GSP, goods 
coming from approximately 150 countries benefit from preferential Customs Duty 
rates. 

Currently the decision on quotas or customs suspensions to be applied to goods 
imported into Poland is taken at the Community level. 

Any information on the Customs Duty rates, customs preferences, available 
quotas, customs suspensions as well as anti-dumping duty rates applicable at 
importation of goods into Poland can be currently obtained from TARIC – the elec-
tronic integrated Community Tariff.

Excise Duty

Polish Excise Duty rules have been harmonized with EU legislation. As a result 
of the harmonization process the new Act on Excise Duty has been adopted. 
The excise goods are divided into harmonized and non-harmonised excise prod-
ucts. Harmonised excise products include products subjected to Excise Duty by 
EU provisions such as mineral oils, tobacco and alcoholic products. Non-har-
mo n ised excise products include goods subject to Excise Duty on the basis of 
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in de pen dent Polish provisions (e.g. passenger cars, perfumes and cosmetics). 
The taxation rules for harmonized and non-harmonised excise products differ 
sig nifi cantly. 

Excise Duty is charged on:
• production of harmonised excise products and release of such products from 

the tax warehouse;
• supply of the excise products in Poland;
• export and import of excise products;
• intra-Community supply and purchase of excise products;
• shortages and losses of harmonized excise products;
• other activities treated as sale of excise products. 

Harmonised products are subject to special rules with respect to their pro duc-
tion, holding and movement. Under these rules: 

• production of harmonized products can take place only within special tax 
warehouses;

• production and holding of harmonised products can be performed within 
the Excise Duty suspension regime;

• Excise Duty on harmonized products is chargeable in the country where 
the goods are released for consumption;

• suspension of Excise Duty can also be applied to the movement of goods, 
provided that the goods are dispatched from a tax warehouse to another 
tax warehouse located in Poland or in the EU or registered or non-reg is tered 
trader operating in another EU member state.

Generally, Excise Duty is payable by the producers or importers of excise goods 
or entities conducting intra-Community purchases of excise goods. Taxable value 
for excise purposes is defined as: 

• the net amount due (i.e. reduced by VAT and excise duty due);
• customs value together with customs duties – in the case of imported prod-

ucts;
• the amount due – in the case of intra-Community purchase. 

Excise Duty is established in a specific way for harmonized products, as:
• fixed amount per number of units (e.g. hl of pure alcohol or hl of product);
• fixed amount per number of units and the percentage of maximum retail 

price (i.e. cigarettes). 

Export of excise goods is exempted from Excise Duty (except for excise goods 
marked with Excise Duty stamps). 

In the case of mineral oils, tobacco products, alcohol and alcoholic beverages, 
Excise Duty is reconciled on a daily basis, with the final reconciliation being made 
on a monthly basis. In the case of other excise products, only monthly rec on -
ciliation is made. The entity making the export supply or an intra-Community 
supply of excise products the Excise Duty on which has been paid is able to 
recover its amount.
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8. ACCOUNTING AND AUDITING

8.1 Accounting in Poland

Introduction to the accounting framework in Po land
Polish accounting is regulated by the Accounting Act of September 29, 1994 
with subsequent amendments (the Act). The Ministry of Finance has also issued 
several decrees covering specific accounting areas such as financial in struments, 
consolidation, accounting for banks, insurance companies and pension funds.

The Accounting Act underwent significant changes, effective in 2002 to bring 
Polish accounting practices closer to the then effective International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRS). However, due to the many changes in IFRS be com-
ing effective in 2005, differences now exist between the Act and IFRS as noted 
in Section 8.4 below (page 89).

During 2003 the Polish Accounting Standards Committee was established to pre -
pare and issue standards to implement the Act. To date 2 standards have 
been issued.

In areas unregulated by the Act or National Standards, reference may be made 
to IFRS.

Recent amendments to the Act permit some Polish entitites to apply IFRS as their 
primary basis of accounting from January 1, 2005, rather than applying the ac-
counting principles in the Act. This choice is summarised in the following table:

Accounting Records 
The provisions of the Act and related regulations are applicable to, among others, 
companies and partnerships that have their registered office or place of man-
agement in Poland. For those entities that select to apply IFRS as their primary 
basis of accounting instead of Polish principles, the following sections of the Act 
will still apply:

• the principles of maintaining accounts – it will not however include the for-
mat of financial statements (chapter 2);

• stock taking (chapter 3);
• auditing and publishing financial statements (chapter 7);

1 Entities listed on a regulated market in Poland or other   Choice Required

 European Economic Area (EEA) country   

2 Banks (other than those included in 1.3 and 4) Not permitted Required 

3 Entities applied for permission to list on a regulated market  Choice Choice

 in Poland or other European Economic Area (EEA) country  

4 Entities that are part of a group where the parent prepares  Choice Choice

 consolidated financial statements for statutory purposes 

 in accordance with IFRS  

5 Other entities Not permitted Not permitted 

Standalone financial 
statements

Consolidated finan-
cial statements
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• directors’ report (Art. 49);
• protection of data (chapter 8).

Each entity is obliged to maintain accounting books and other documentation 
which, in particular, contain:

• a description of the entity’s accounting principles;
• rules for keeping subsidiary ledgers and their link to general ledger accounts.

Accounting records should be kept and financial statements drawn up in the Polish 
language and expressed in the Polish currency.

Major aspects of valuation of balance sheet items

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that the future economic ben -
efits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the Company. Initially, in tan-
gible assets are recorded at their purchase price and are depreciated over their 
useful lives or written down for impairment.

The amortisation period for goodwill and development costs qualifying for cap-
i tali sation should not exceed 5 years. If justified, however, the amortisation period 
for goodwill may be extended up to 20 years.

Property, plant & equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at purchase or production cost, less 
accumulated depreciation. Land is valued at its purchase cost reduced by write-
offs due to impairment.

Assets may be revalued in accordance with separate regulations. The last reva-
luation was on January 1, 1995 based on decrees issued by the Ministry of Fi nance. 
The result of revaluation is reflected in the revaluation reserve. After a fixed asset 
is sold or liquidated, the amount remaining in the revaluation reserve is trans-
ferred to distributable reserves. 

Costs incurred on an asset already in use, such as repairs, overhauls or op er at-
ing fees, are expensed as incurred. If, however, such costs increase the ex pected 
future economic benefits of a given fixed asset beyond the original expected 
benefits they are capitalised into the value of the asset.

Assets, except for land, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the assets’ 
estimated useful lives or shorter of useful life or term of right.

Borrowing costs which relate to the construction, adaptation, assembly or im-
provement of a fixed asset or intangible asset are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the asset, where those borrowings were taken out for that purpose. FX gains/
losses on such borrowings are also capitalised.

Investment property
Investment property is valued at purchase price decreased by depreciation and 
write-offs due to impairment or at their fair value – the policy to be selected. 
If the fair value model is selected, the change is recognized in the revaluation 
reserve in equity. Investment property includes properties which the Company 
does not use for its own purposes but which were acquired or constructed for 
the pur pose of generating profits in the form of increasing value and revenues 
from rental.
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Other investments
Financial instruments
Financial instruments are initially recognised at their purchase cost (price), being 
the fair value of the consideration given. The costs of the transaction are in cluded 
in their initial value.

After initial recognition, financial instruments (including derivatives and em bed-
ded derivatives) are classified into one of the following four categories and 
reported as follows:

• investments held to maturity – measured at amortised cost, calculated using 
the effective interest rate;

• originating loans and receivables from providing funds - measured at amor-
tised cost, calculated using the effective interest rate; receivables from trade 
sales are not discounted;

• investments held for trading – measured at fair value. Any unrealised gains/
losses are recorded in the profit and loss account;

• investments available for sale - measured at fair value, with unrealised gains/
losses recognised in the profit and loss account or in the revaluation re serve 
in equity until the investment is sold or impaired at which time the cu mu lative 
gain/loss is included in the profit and loss account – the policy to be se lected. 

In single entity accounts of a dominant entity, investments in subsidiaries, asso ci-
ates or joint ventures can be carried at cost, equity accounted or fair val ued. If carried 
at fair value, all changes are recognized in the revaluation re serve in equity.

The fair value of financial instruments traded on an active market is set with 
respect to the prices listed on such market as at the balance sheet date. If there 
is no such listed market price, the fair value is estimated based on the listed 
market price of a similar instrument or based on the expected cash flow.

Those companies that are not subject to a statutory audit may elect not to apply 
the above valuation methods if it does not effect the true and fair presentation. 
In this case investments may be accounted for as follows:

• short-term investments – at lower of cost or market value or at fair value with 
gains/losses recognised in the profit and loss account;

• long-term investments – at purchase cost less impairment or at fair value 
with gains/losses recognised in the revaluation reserve in equity. 

Inventories
Stock should be valued at the Iower of cost or net realisable value. Capi tali sa-
tion of financial costs in stock is permitted if the production process re quires 
a necessary lengthy period of preparations.

Foreign currency transactions
Transactions denominated in non-Polish currencies are translated into Polish 
equivalents at the rate of exchange on the date of the transaction, or the rate 
committed in a related contract.

At the balance sheet date assets and liabilities denominated in foreign curren-
cies (other than shares in subsidiaries and associates valued using equity 
method) are restated at National Bank of Poland (Narodowy Bank Polski) rate.

Foreign exchange differences arising on revaluation are recorded as financial 
income or financial expense except for:

• certain types of long-term investments denominated in foreign currencies 
where gains are recognised in the revaluation reserve;

Accounting and auditing
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• foreign exchange differences relating to liabilities financing assets under 
construction which form part of the cost of those assets;

• foreign exchange differences relating to derivative instruments used to hedge 
foreign exchange risk.

Share capital
Instruments are classified into equity or liability based on the terms and the de-
finition of a liability and equity. Additional capital (dop³ata) re gardless of its terms 
of redemption is classified as equity.

The share capital presented in the balance sheet should be equal to the amount 
registered at the registration court based on the shareholders’ resolution.

Liability
Liabilities are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or 
constructive) as a result of a past event, such that an outflow of resources em-
bodying economic benefits is certain or highly probable to be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the ob li-
gation.

Deferred tax
Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences 
at the balance sheet date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences. 
Deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and 
unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and unused tax 
losses can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that according 
to provisions enacted by the balance sheet date will apply in the period when 
the asset is realized or the liability is settled. 

The recently released Deferred Tax Standard also requires that additional tax 
credits given to companies in the past is to be treated as a government grant 
– giving rise to a deferred tax asset and deferred income to be amortised over 
the useful life of the asset.

Those companies that are not subject to a statutory audit may elect not to rec-
og nize deferred tax balances.

Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if at least one of the seven conditions is met:

• the legal title is transferred upon lease expiry;
• the asset may be purchased by the lessee at a price lower than the market 

value upon lease expiry;
• the lease term is longer than 75% of the economic useful life of the leased asset;
• the sum of the discounted minimum lease payments is higher than 90% of 

the market value of the leased asset as at the lease inception;
• the lease can be extended on more favourable terms;
• if cancelled, the lessee bears all cancellation costs;
• the asset is adapted to specific needs of the lessee. 
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Those companies that are not subject to a statutory audit may adopt sim plified 
accounting for leases, i.e. account for the leases in accordance with the tax treat-
ment.

Business combinations
Business combinations may be accounted for using the purchase accounting or 
uniting of interest method. Uniting of interest method may only be used where 
all 11 criteria given in the Act are met. Group reconstructions/reorganisations 
should generally not result in goodwill or fair value adjustments; i.e. uniting of 
interests for certain types of transactions is allowed, however the definition of 
group restructuring for the application of uniting of interest method is quite 
restrictive – there must be 100% ownership.

Hedge transactions
Transactions involving derivative instruments to hedge a financial risk are split 
into three types of hedges – cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and a hedge 
of a net investment in a foreign subsidiary. Hedge accounting applies as follows:

Accounting and auditing

8.2 Financial statements
Financial statements must be prepared in Polish and expressed in the Polish 
currency. Financial statements consist of:

• a balance sheet;
• an income statement;
• notes to the financial statements (split into an introduction and supple men-

 tal notes);
• a statement of cash flows;
• a statement of changes in equity.

A cash flow statement and a statement of changes in equity are only required 
by entities whose financial statements are subject to an audit.

Joint-stock companies, limited companies, insurance companies, co-operatives 
and state-owned companies prepare, outside the financial statements, a fi nan-
cial review by management – the management report. Such a report should 
include:

• description of events that occurred during the reported period and after its 
closing date till the date the financial statements are approved, that sig nifi-
cantly impact the entity’s performance;

• predicted development of the entity; 

Recognised in the income state-
ment 

Cash Flow Hedges Fair Value Hedges Hedge of a net in vestment 
in a foreign subsidiary

Hedged item 
recognized

In accordance with 
other standards

At fair value, with all 
changes recognized in the 
income statement

In accordance with other 
standards

Hedging instrument 
recognized

At fair value, with all 
changes in equity

At fair value, with all 
changes recognized in the 
income statement

At fair value, with all changes 
in equity

When transaction 
completed

Offset asset/liability 
acquired

No impact
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• major achievements in the research and development area;
• actual and planned financial situation, including financial ratios;
• details about transactions in own shares;
• financial risk management objectives and methods.

The format of the balance sheet, income statement, statement of cash flows, state-
ment of changes in equity and the contents of notes to the financial statements 
are determined by the Accounting Act. Companies listed on the War saw Stock 
Ex change (Gie³da Papierów Wartoœciowych w Warszawie), up to the end of 2004 
are required to prepare their financial statements in a format prescribed by the De-
cree of the Council of Ministers dated December 22, 1998 with amendments. 
This includes a reconciliation between the results reported in accor dance with 
Polish Accounting and those that would have been met if IFRS or US GAAP had 
been applied.

8.3 Financial reporting and audit re quirements

Financial reporting 
All entities governed by the Accounting Act are obliged to prepare financial 
statements and consolidated financial statements (if applicable) for each fi nan-
cial year. The financial year need not be the calendar year. Listed companies 
are additionally obliged to prepare semi-annual and quarterly (simplified) fi nan-
cial statements as well as consolidated financial statements.

An entity must also prepare financial statements as at the date of the close of 
the accounting records and as a result of the following events: close of business 
(liquidation date), at the date preceding the change of its legal form, or at the date 
of division or merger if the new entity is established .

Financial statements must be filed with the registration court together with the fol-
lowing documents:

• auditor’s opinion, if the statements were subject to an audit;
• shareholders’ resolution on the approval of the financial statements and 

distribution of profit or coverage of loss;
• directors’ report.

Filing is required to be performed within 15 days of approval of the financial 
statements by the shareholders, though not later than 9 months after the balance 
sheet date.

Listed companies are obliged to file their financial statements with the Polish 
Securities and Exchange Commission (Komisja Papierów Wartoœciowych i Gie³d) 
within 3 and 6 months at half year and year end, respectively.

All entities which  are required to be audited must also publish elements of their 
financial statements in the Commercial Gazette (Monitor Polski B).

Violation of the Accounting Act by a person responsible for drawing up the fi nan-
cial statements (usually the Management Board) may be recognised as a crimi-
nal offence, punishable by imprisonment for a term not exceeding 2 years, by 
a fine, or both.
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Audit requirements 
Polish statutory audit requirements apply to:
• the annual standalone and consolidated financial statements of the following 

entities that operate as a going concern:
– all banks, insurance companies, investment and pension funds, joint stock 
 companies and listed companies,
– other entities that meet at least 2 of the following 2 thresholds in the fi nan-
  cial year preceding the financial year for which the financial statements were 
 drawn up: 

 annual average employment – 50 individuals in full time jobs,
 total assets as at the end of the financial year – the Polish currency equiva lent 

 of EUR 2,500,000 or greater,
 net sales including financial income for the financial year – the Polish cur-

 rency equivalent of EUR 5,000,000 or greater;
• financial statements of entities after merger for the year when the merger 

occurred.

The semi-annual financial statements of listed companies and investment funds 
are subject to review by a certified public accountant.

Audits are governed by the relevant legal requirements in force, which include:
• Chapter 7 of the Accounting Act;
• auditing standards issued by the National Chamber of Auditors.

8.4 Consolidation

Consolidation requirement 
A capital group is defined as a group which comprises a holding company, its sub-
sidiaries and jointly controlled entities not being commercial entities.

According to the Accounting Act, a holding company is defined as a company 
that controls or jointly controls another entity.

A capital group must draw up consolidated financial statements on the basis of 
the standalone financial statements of entities that belong to the group.

Consolidated financial statements of a capital group are not required if 2 out of 
3 of the following thresholds are not met in the financial year and the pre ceding 
financial year:

• annual average employment – 250 individuals in full time jobs;
• total assets – the Polish currency equivalent of EUR 7,500,000 or greater;
• sales including financial income – the Polish currency equivalent of EUR 

15,000,000 or greater.

A subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity is excluded from consolidation (or pro-
por tional consolidation) if:

• the shares in such entity were acquired, purchased or otherwise obtained for 
the sole purpose of subsequent resale, within 1 year of the date of pur chase; 

• there are restrictions on the exercise of control or joint control over the entity, 
which restrictions prevent free disposal of its assets, including net profit 
generated by this entity, or which prevent exercise of control over the bodies 
directing the entity.

Accounting and auditing
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A subsidiary or a jointly controlled entity may not be included in the con soli-
dated financial statements if:

• the amounts stated in that entity’s financial statements are immaterial in 
relation to the holding company’s financial statements;

• the costs of gathering information are very high (only for entities outside 
Poland and the EEA).

Consolidated financial statements 
Consolidated financial statements comprise:

• a consolidated balance sheet;
• a consolidated profit and loss account;
• a consolidated statement of cash flows;
• a consolidated statement of changes in equity;
• notes to the consolidated financial statements (split into an introduction and 

supplemental notes).

Consolidated financial statements should be accompanied by a Group di rectors’ 
report. The directors’ report should be prepared by the Management Board of 
the holding company.

Consolidated financial statements should be prepared within five months of the ba-
lance sheet date of the holding company. They should be approved by the share-
holders of the holding company within eight months of the balance sheet date.

Consolidated financial statements should be prepared as at the same balance sheet 
date and for the same financial year as the financial statements of the holding 
company. If this date is not the same for all entities within the group, then con-
solidation may cover financial statements drawn up for a different 12-month period 
than the financial year, if the balance sheet date of those financial statements is 
within 3 months of the balance sheet date adopted by the group.

Companies included in the consolidation should adopt consistent accounting poli-
cies and consistent methods of preparation of financial statements. If the account-
ing policies of consolidated entities differ from those applied for con soli dation, 
then appropriate adjustments must be carried out at the consolidation level. 

If the composition of the group for which the consolidated financial statements 
are prepared has undergone significant changes during the course of the fi nan 
cial year, then information about profit/loss after tax and equity of those com-
pa nies that have not been part of the group for the whole financial year should 
be disclosed in the consolidated financial statements.

Methods to include entities in consolidated fi nan cial statements
A subsidiary (see Consolidation requirement) is consolidated using the full 
consolidation method. 

Jointly controlled entities that are not companies are consolidated using the pro-
portional consolidation method. Commercial jointly controlled entities that are 
companies are accounted for using the equity accounting method. 

Associates are accounted for using the equity accounting method.
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8.5 Principal differences between Polish and In ter na tional 
Financial Re porting Standards

The main differences between Polish Accounting Standards (PAS) and In ter na tional 
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) effective in 2005 are presented below.

Accounting and auditing

Main differences between Polish and International Financial Reporting Standards

Description PAS IFRS

Measurement cur-
rency

Measurement currency concept does not 
underlie the preparation of the financial 
statements.

Measurement currency concept underlies 
the preparation of the financial statements. 

Long term con tracts Long term contracts approach need only be 
applied for contracts with a period ex ceed-
ing 6 months

Construction contracts approach should be 
applied to all contracts of this type re gard-
less of the period.

Investment prop erty Assets are acquired for increase in value or 
rental or interest, and not used on the op era-
tions of the business. Assets are measured 
using the fair value or cost model. 
Fair value model requires regular re valuation 
of property to fair value, with all changes 
reflected in equity.
Cost model requires carrying at cost and 
depreciation over a useful life.
Assets held under an operating lease cannot 
be classified as investment property.

Assets are held for in crease in value or rental 
or interest, and not used on the operations 
of the business.  Assets are measured using 
the fair value or cost model.
Fair value model requires regular re valuation 
of property to fair value, with all changes 
reflected in the profit and loss.
Cost model requires carrying at cost and 
depreciation over a useful life.
Assets held under an operating lease can be 
classified as investment property, and ac-
counted for as a finance lease.  The fair value 
model must be applied.

Intangible assets Revaluation to fair value is not permitted. All 
intangible assets are amortised

Revaluation to fair value permitted only if 
there is an active market in which to reliably 
determine fair value.
Intangible assets are split into those with 
a finite life – amortised – and those with 
an indefinite life – not amortised and sub ject 
to a yearly impairment test.

Impairment of as-
sets

Assessed yearly if there is high probability 
that the assets (including goodwill and in tan-
gibles) will not bring expected benefits. Write 
assets down to selling value or if that is not 
available to fair value.

Assessed yearly if there are indications that 
assets may be impaired (including goodwill 
and in tan gibles). If indications exist, write 
assets down to the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use.
Even if there are no indicators, goodwill, in defi-
nite life intangible assets and in tan gible assets 
not yet in use are subject to a yearly test.

Hyperinflation No adjustments for hyperinflation – regu lated 
restatements of fixed assets un der taken in-
stead as noted below.

During periods of hyperinflation, assets and 
liabilities are restated to reflect the changes 
in the general price index.

Business Com bi-
nations

Accounted for as an purchase or uniting of 
interest – based on the con ditions of the com-
binations. Group reorganisations among 
entities under 100% control also apply unit-
ing of interest method.

Accounted for as an purchase in all cases.  
No accounting given for com bi nations among 
entities under common control.
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Goodwill & ad just-
ments to fair value 
on purchase

Goodwill on purchase (in cluding asso ci-
ates) is the difference between the pur chase 
price and the fair value of all assets and li-
abili ties ac quired.
Changes in the initial fair values of ac quired 
assets and liabilities, which are identified  
during the financial year in which the pur-
 chase took place should adjust goodwill.
Goodwill is amortised over the useful life, gene-
rally not expected to be longer than 20 years.
Negative goodwill:
– relating to future losses acquired is de ferred 

and amortised over the period of the loss,
– otherwise, up to the value of the de pre -

ciable assets is deferred and am or tised 
over the depreciable life,

– balance is recognized as income.

Goodwill on purchase (including asso ciates) 
is the difference between the purchase price 
and the fair value of all assets and liabilities 
acquired including contingent liabili ties.
Changes in the initial fair values of ac quired 
assets and liabilities, if only provisionally 
assessed at the date of purchase, which are 
identified within 12 months of the purchase, 
are adjusted against goodwill.
Goodwill is not amortised, but subject to 
a yearly impairment test.
Negative goodwill is recognised as income.

Fixed assets Fixed assets may be revalued only on the 
basis of separate regulations to a value not 
ex ceeding the fair value.

Fixed assets may be revalued to their fair 
value.

Discounting of long-
term trade re ceiv-
ables

Trade receivables, regardless of the credit 
period, are not discounted.

Long-term trade re ceiv ables are discounted 
as with any other financial assets.

Capitalisation of 
borrowing costs

All borrowing costs incurred in the period of 
construction of tangible and intangible assets 
are capi t al ised as part of the assets’ cost. 
FX gains/losses are also included as part of 
the borrowing costs.
A choice is given to capitalise borrowing 
costs into inventory which takes con sid erable 
time to complete.

Requires an entity to choose between capi-
tal ising or not capitalising borrowing costs 
on specific and general borrowings to fi -
nance the construction of individual quali-
fying assets. 
FX gains/losses are also included as part of 
the borrowing costs, to the extent they rep-
re sent an adjustment to the interest charge.

Investments in sub-
sid iaries, asso ciates 
and joint ven tures 
in sepa rate stand-
alone accounts of 
the parent

Choice of policy between:
– cost,
– equity accounting,
– fair value with all changes rec og nized di-

rectly in equity.

Choice of policy between:
– cost,
– fair value with all changes rec og nized 

directly in equity.

Joint ventures Joint ventures which are commercial en tities 
are accounted for using the equity account-
ing method.
Joint ventures which are not commercial en-
tities are accounted for using pro por tional 
con soli dation.

Choice of policy applied to all joint ven tures, 
between:
– proportional consolidation,
– equity accounting.

Financial 
in struments

Loans and receivables restricted to those 
arising from providing funds to another 
entity.
Available for sale instruments are valued at 
fair value with a choice of policy to recognise 
changes in the income statement or equity.  

Loans and receivables include those arising 
from sale of goods and may include balances 
acquired in some cases.
Available for sale instruments are valued at 
fair value with changes recognised in eq uity.  
Any impairment below cost is recognized in 

Description PAS IFRS
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In any matters not regulated by the Accounting Law or the Decrees an entity 
may apply national accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards 
Committee. In the absence of relevant local regulations, the entity may apply 
In ter na tional Financial Reporting Standards.  

Any impairment recognized in the income 
statement may be reversed in the income 
statement at a later date.
Held for trading instruments are those ac-
quired for the purpose of generating profits 
from sale in a short period of time.

the income statement and may not be re-
versed through the income statement.
Held for trading category is broader and 
includes any asset or liability designated by 
management.

Hedging Cash flow hedges include all firm commit-
ments. 
The balance in equity is included in the car-
rying value of the acquired asset/liabil ity.

Cash flow hedges include firm commitments 
only relating to FX risk – all other firm com-
mitments are fair value hedges.
The balance in equity remains in equity until 
the underlying transaction effects the in come 
statement.  If the firm commitment was for a non-
financial asset or liability there is a choice of 
policy to adjust the carrying value of the asset/
liability or keep the balance in equity until 
the asset/liability impacts the income statement.

Deferred Tax Investment tax credits given give rise to a de-
ferred tax asset and recognized as a gov ern-
ment grant to be amortised over the useful 
life of the asset.

Investment tax credits given give rise to a de-
ferred tax asset and effect the tax charge in 
the year granted.

Description PAS IFRS

Accounting and auditing
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9. APPENDIX – JAPANESE INVESTMENTS 
IN POLAND

9.1  Automotive sector

9.2 Others
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10. ABOUT US

10.1. About Ernst & Young
Ernst & Young, a leading international professional advisory services firm, iden-
tifies growth opportunities and helps companies to make the most of them.

Over 103,000 specialists in 140 countries combine expertise and international 
experience with a thorough knowledge of local markets. Our goal is to provide 
innovative and practical solutions.

Our integrated package of services, vast resources and global reach enable 
us to serve our clients wherever they may be.

Ernst & Young in Poland
Our roots in Poland go back to the years 1933 – 1939, when Whinney, Murray & 
Co, Ernst & Young’s predecessor, provided advisory services in Warsaw. We 
have ope-rated in Poland under the name of Ernst & Young since 1990.

Thanks to the combination with Andersen, Ernst & Young in Poland has become 
the biggest auditing and advisory firm on the Polish market. Our total workforce 
in the offices in Warsaw, Gdañsk, Katowice, Kraków, £ódŸ, Poznañ and Wroc³aw 
tops eight hundred professional advisors and auditors. 

Our cooperation with clients is not limited to assessing the current state of af-
fairs and working out successful business strategies; we also aim to help them 
adapt to the changing market environment and tax regulations thus giving them 
an advantage over their competitors in Poland and abroad. 

We provide professional services in the following areas: audit and business 
advisory, accounting, tax advisory, transaction advisory, EU advisory, real es-
tate advisory and training.  

Services

Transaction advisory services

We provide integrated solutions related to a wide range of transaction types. 
We help clients avoid exposure or inappropriate transactions and achieve set 
goals on the most favourable terms. Our services include among others: 

• due diligence review;
• assistance before transaction;
• company, trademark and real estate valuations;
• investment project support;
• financial and business modelling;
• drafting capital adequacy report; 
• business regulatory impact analysis. 

We also assist our clients in the restructuring & privatisation process and pro-
pose our advisory services with respect to working capital management, debt 
restructuring and business development options. 

About us
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We offer a wide scope of services for private equity houses and provide proj-
ects for banks, in particular limited reviews before granting a bank loan and 
moni toring of debtors’ business activity.

Tax services
Our tax advisors help clients to minimize tax burdens while observing all legal 
regulations. We offer the following services:

• international tax;
• VAT, customs and excise;
• Corporate Income Tax;
• Personal Income Tax and payroll – Human Capital;
• social security;
• investment strategies;
• transfer pricing;
• litigation;
• financial solutions.

EU advisory services
The EU Advisory Services Department co-operating with the offices of Ernst & 
Young in EU countries and candidate countries:

• advises which EU funds are available and helps in the process of applying 
for financial support;

• analyses the impact of Poland’s accession to the EU on companies and 
in dus try branches and prepares a schedule of the necessary adjustment 
steps;

• helps start co-operation with local government authorities and implement 
projects co-financed from structural funds;

• interprets changes in European Communities (EC) law.

Assurance & advisory business services
We offer the following services:

• audits of financial statements prepared in accordance with Polish Ac-
counting Regulations, International Accounting Standards and Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principles applicable in the United States and the 
United King dom;

• advice on accounting and internal control systems, including the imple men-
tation of accounting and financial reporting regulations;

• reports for the Warsaw Stock Exchange;
• advice on information systems security.

Accounting services
To meet our clients’ needs and requirements, we offer a full range of accounting 
advisory services based on the relevant accounting and tax regulations:

• accounting services at the start-up stage of your operations in Poland;
• bookkeeping outsourcing including online access to company information 

(Accounting Online);
• preparation of monthly tax returns and statistical reports;
• preparation of all necessary financial documents for the financial year clos-

ing;
• preparation of management reports and analyses;
• preparation of consolidation reports and statements in accordance with the 

stan-dards specified by the client’s parent company;
• support in the event of a tax inspection or audit.

Ernst & Young Academy of Business – training services
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To meet market requirements, we offer the following types of training:
• preparing candidates for exams of international professional organiza-

tions;
• multi-level tailor-made training programs;
• short supplementary sessions in a particular area: financial and managerial 

courses.

All courses are run by professional lecturers and include workshops and case 
studies. This helps participants develop their skills and acquire useful knowl-
edge.

Warsaw   
ul. Emilii Plater 53
00-113 Warsaw   
Tel.: (+48 22) 557 70 00    
Fax: (+48 22) 557 70 01    

Gdañsk Kraków Poznañ 
ul. Grunwaldzka 103 ul. Krupnicza 3 ul. Paderewskiego 8
80-244 Gdañsk 31-123 Kraków 61-770 Poznañ 
Tel.: (+48 58) 769 77 77 Tel.: (+48 12) 431 12 20 Tel.: (+48 61) 856 29 00
Fax: (+48 58) 769 77 78 Fax: (+48 12) 431 12 51 Fax: (+48 61) 856 30 00

Katowice £ódŸ Wroc³aw 
ul. Chorzowska 50 ul. Wróblewskiego 18 pl. Dominikañski 3
40-121 Katowice 93-578 £ódŸ 50-159 Wroc³aw 
Tel.: (+48 32) 760 77 00 Tel.: (+48 42) 684 63 53 Tel.: (+48 71) 375 10 00
Fax: (+48 32) 760 77 10 Fax: (+48 42) 684 33 59 Fax: (+48 71) 375 10 10

www.ey.com/pl

10.2 About Domañski Zakrzewski Palinka 



9090

WarsawWarsaw PoznańPoznań WrocławWrocław
ul. Emilii Plater 53
00-113 Warsaw

ul. Paderewskiego 8
61-770 Poznań

pl. Dominikański 3
50-159 Wrocław

Tel.+48 22 557 7600 Tel. +48 61 858 4200 Tel. +48 71 375 1000
Fax +48 22 557 7601 Fax +48 61 858 4210 Fax +48 71 375 1010

www.dzp.pl

          Marcin Krakowiak
marcin.krakowiak@dzp.pl

yoko.komazawa@dzp.pl

10.3 About PAIiIZ 
The Polish Information and Foreign Investment Agency (Polska Agencja In-
for macji i Inwestycji Zagranicznych S.A. - PAIiIZ.) was brought to life on June 
24, 2003, as a result of the merger of the Polish Agency for Foreign Investment 
(Pañstwowa Agencja Inwestycji Zagranicznych S.A. - PAIZ) and the Polish In for-
mation Agency (Polska Agencja Informacyjna S.A. – PAI), for the co or di nation 
of economic promotion of Poland.

PAIiIZ exists to increase the inflow of foreign direct investment (FDI) by en-
cour aging foreign corporations to invest in Poland. It serves to help them deal 
with all the administrative and legal procedures encountered during the investment 
pro cess.

PAIiIZ’s mission includes creating a positive image of Poland in the world, 
as well as the promotion of Polish brands of products and services, thus sup-
porting ex ports.

PAIiIZ offers investors: 
– quick access to complex information regarding economic-legal in vestments 

environment,
– help in finding suitable partners and suppliers, and attractive investment 

locations,
– advice during each phase of the investment process.

Main elements of the PAIiIZ strategy include:
– attracting USD 10 billion annually in FDI into Poland by 2006,
– creating a strong agency, to act as a ‘one-stop shop’ offering complex 

services to foreign investors,
– creating a strong brand for Poland, over the next 10 years bringing it into 

the group of around 30 so-called ‘branded countries’ which enjoy a posi-
tive image in economics, politics and culture and widely respected by the 
in ter na tional community,
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– helping to boost exports by promoting a positive image of Polish goods 
and services on international markets.

PAIiIZ also acts as:
– OECD contact point,
– Secretariat of the Poland-Japan Economic Committee,
– Secretariat of the Promotion Network Poland.

PAIiIZ also promotes Poland’s regions, organizing conferences, media and eco-
nomic missions to Poland and abroad.

PAIiIZ is creating a net of Regional Investor Assistance Centres (Regionalne 
Centra Obs³ugi Inwestora) around Poland that will serve to improve the quality 
of investor services in the regions, along with providing access to the latest in-
for mation such as up-to-date investment offers and microeconomic data. These 
specialized offices, financed by the regional authorities, and employing staff trained 
by PAIiIZ, also serve as links between the investor and the local au thorities. 
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